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Earnings Per Share 

Note: This topic is listed in Area I, Group D in the syllabus. 

Note: Guidance in the Accounting Standards Codification® on calculation and presentation of earnings

per share is in ASC 260. 

Earnings per share figures, both basic and diluted, are required to be disclosed on the face of the financial 

statements. Thus, they are an integral part of the financial statements. 

Earnings per share (EPS) is the amount of income the holder of one share of common stock would have 

received if 100% of the company’s profit had been “paid” (distributed as dividends) to the holders of all the 

common shares outstanding. Earnings belong to the common shareholders whether they are distributed as 

dividends or retained in the company to support future growth, so earnings per share is an important 

measure. The concept of “earnings per share” does not apply to preferred shares, because preferred share-

holders have no claim on the company’s earnings beyond their preferred dividend. 

The basic calculation is: 

Income Available to Common Shareholders (IAC) 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding (WANCSO) 

The Accounting Standards Codification® requires a company to disclose two versions of its earnings per

share in its financial statements if it has a complex capital structure, meaning it has both common stock 

and potential common stock in the form of convertible bonds, convertible preferred shares, options, and/or 

warrants outstanding. The two versions are: 

1) Basic earnings per share (BEPS) is the earnings per share for all common shares that were

actually outstanding during the period.

2) Diluted earnings per share (DEPS) is the earnings per share that would have resulted if all

potentially issuable, dilutive85 common shares had been issued as common shares on the first day

of the period (or, if the dilutive securities were issued during the period, on the date of their issue).

If a company has a simple capital structure, meaning it has common stock but no potential common 

stock, it is required to disclose only its basic EPS, because its diluted EPS would be the same as its basic 

EPS. 

Earnings per share calculations for BEPS and DEPS are both mathematical and fairly simple once you are 

familiar with them. The calculation of IAC and WANCSO can become complex, however. 

Income Available to Common Stockholders (IAC) 

Income available to common stockholders—the numerator of the earnings per share calculation—is the 

amount of earnings that was available for distribution to common shareholders. Some of it or none of it 

may have actually been distributed as common dividends, but it is recognized as belonging to common 

shareholders whether or not it has actually been distributed.  

If the company has preferred stock outstanding, the amount of income available to common shareholders 

is not the same as the company’s net income. If the company has preferred stock, the company usually 

85 “Dilutive” refers to potentially issuable shares that would have lowered earnings per share if they had actually been

issued. “Potentially issuable shares” may be bonds that are convertible to common stock, preferred stock that is con-
vertible to common stock, and/or outstanding options and warrants that, if they had been exercised, would have resulted 
in the issuance of new shares of common stock that would have diluted each existing shareholder’s share of the earn-
ings. 
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pays a dividend to its preferred shareholders. All dividends, including preferred dividends, are paid from 

earnings. Funds for dividends that belong to preferred shareholders cannot also belong to common share-

holders. Therefore, preferred dividends are deducted from net income to determine Income 

Available to Common Stockholders (IAC). 

What constitutes preferred dividends depends upon whether the preferred stock is cumulative or non-

cumulative. Usually, preferred shares (whether cumulative or noncumulative) receive a fixed, stated 

percentage of the par value of the preferred share as a dividend each year. For both noncumulative and 

cumulative preferred shares, the dividend can be paid only if the company’s board of directors declares it. 

But if the board of directors decides not to pay the preferred dividend in any given year and does not 

declare it, there is a difference in how the dividend is treated for purposes of calculating IAC depending on 

whether the preferred shares are noncumulative or cumulative. 

• When the preferred dividend is declared for noncumulative preferred shareholders, the amount 

of the preferred dividend becomes no longer available to the common shareholders since it has 

been set aside for distribution to the preferred shareholders. If the preferred dividend has been 

declared, the amount of the dividend is deducted from net income in calculating Income Available 

to Common Shareholders. But if the board of directors chooses not to declare the dividend to 

owners of noncumulative preferred stock, the company has no obligation to the holders of the 

noncumulative preferred stock to make up that dividend later. Therefore, if a preferred dividend is 

not declared for noncumulative preferred shares by the board of directors, the undeclared dividend 

is not deducted from net income in calculating Income Available to Common Shareholders. 

• Unlike noncumulative preferred shares, if the regular preferred dividend is not declared in a specific 

year on cumulative preferred shares, that undeclared dividend for the year must be declared 

and paid in a future year before any future common dividends can ever again be paid. There-

fore, as soon as a preferred dividend is earned (which occurs with passing time), that preferred 

dividend earned is no longer available to common shareholders that year, whether or not the 

preferred dividend was declared that year. The preferred dividend earned by cumulative pre-

ferred shares is deducted from net income in calculating IAC for that year, whether or not 

it was declared by the board of directors. Thus, even if a cumulative dividend is not declared 

for a given year, the amount due for the undeclared dividend is deducted from net income in 

calculating IAC for that year.86  

Exam Tip: Noncumulative is the default. If preferred shares are not specifically identified as cumulative 

preferred shares in an exam problem, they are noncumulative preferred shares.  

The difference between cumulative and noncumulative preferred stock is important because in calculating 

IAC, cumulative preferred dividends are subtracted from net income in the year they are earned, 

whereas noncumulative preferred dividends are subtracted from net income in the year they are de-

clared.  

Income Available to Common Stockholders is calculated as follows: 

 Net Income 

− Noncumulative preferred dividends DECLARED (whether or not paid) and/or 

− Cumulative preferred dividends EARNED (whether or not declared)  

= Income Available to Common Stockholders (IAC) 

A company could have both forms of preferred stock, but usually a company that has preferred stock will 

have one or the other but not both. 

 
86 An undeclared and unpaid cumulative preferred dividend is subtracted from net income to calculate IAC for the year 

in which it was earned only. If it is paid in a subsequent year, it is not subtracted again from that subsequent year’s net 
income, because to do that would be to count it twice. 
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Exam Tip: On the exam, if a problem does not specifically say whether a preferred dividend (cumulative 

or noncumulative) was declared or not, assume that it was declared. Preferred dividends are usually 

declared and paid very reliably unless the company is in deep financial trouble. 

Cumulative preferred dividends are subtracted from net income in the year they are earned, whether or 

not they are declared that year. If cumulative preferred dividends are not declared in the year they are 

earned but are paid in a future year, they are not subtracted from net income to calculate IAC in the future 

year when they are paid, because they have already been subtracted in the year they were earned. 

To subtract them again would be to double count them. 

Exam Tip: If a question gives the amount of income available to common stockholders, do not 

subtract any preferred dividends from it. Income available to common stockholders is net income minus 

preferred dividends. The preferred dividends have already been subtracted from net income to derive 

the IAC given in the problem. To subtract them again would be to subtract them twice. 

 

Note: In calculating IAC, no adjustments are made for common dividends declared or paid because if 

common dividends have been declared and distributed, the amount of the dividend is still available to 

the common shareholder, only now it is given to them in the form of a cash dividend. 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding (WANCSO) 

The Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding—the denominator of the earnings per share 

calculation—is the average number of common shares that were outstanding each day during the pe-

riod. WANCSO could be calculated by summing the number of common shares outstanding on each day of 

the period and then dividing the sum by the number of days in the period, but that would be very time-

consuming. Instead, the average number of common shares outstanding is calculated as a weighted aver-

age. For example, if 10,000 new shares were issued on July 1, the weighted-average number of shares 

outstanding applicable to the new shares during the year was 5,000 because the 10,000 shares were out-

standing for only half the year. 

Note: If the company reacquires some of its shares during the period (purchases treasury stock), the 

reacquired shares are outstanding only for the time they were owned by someone other than the com-

pany. So, for example, if the company purchased 12,000 of its own shares on the open market on 

September 1, the weighted average number of those repurchased shares that were outstanding during 

the year was 8,000 (12,000 ÷ 12 months × 8 months outstanding). 

The calculation of WANCSO is usually done in the following manner, though there are variations. 

• Begin with the number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the period and weight that for 

the entire year at 100%. Transactions that occur after the beginning of the period will be adjust-

ments to this figure. 

• New shares issued during the period are multiplied by the percentage of the year the new shares 

were outstanding and that amount is added to the 100%-weighted number of shares outstanding 

at the beginning of the period.  

• When shares are reacquired, the number of shares reacquired is multiplied by the percentage of 

the year they were not outstanding, and that amount is subtracted from the 100%-weighted 

number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the period. 

• To ensure that the weighted average number of shares outstanding and the resulting earnings per 

share reported are comparable for all periods presented, stock splits and stock dividends are re-

ported as if they had occurred on January 1 of the first period presented in the comparative 

financial statements. All shares outstanding and all calculations that pre-date the split or stock 
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dividend are adjusted, and the adjustment goes back to the beginning of the first period reported. 

Even if the stock split or stock dividend occurs after the year-end, if it occurs before the year’s 

financial statements are issued, it is treated the same way—as having occurred at the beginning 

of the first period presented in the financial statements.  

The adjustment for stock splits and stock dividends is made to all shares outstanding at the be-

ginning of the earliest period presented and to all transactions (new shares issued, outstanding 

shares reacquired) that occurred prior to the stock split or stock dividend.  

However, the number of new shares issued or treasury stock acquired that occurred after the 

stock split or stock dividend took place are not adjusted. 

Example: Company Q began the year with 100,000 common shares outstanding. 10,000 new shares 

were issued on July 1. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the newly-

issued shares was 5,000 since those 10,000 shares were outstanding for half of the year. 5,000 equiv-

alent shares are added to the 100,000 shares outstanding on January 1. 

The company reacquired 1,000 of its shares on October 1. The amount subtracted from the beginning 

outstanding shares is 250 equivalent shares—3/12 or 25% of 1,000 shares—since those 1,000 shares 

were not outstanding for 3 out of 12 months of the year.  Thus, the weighted average number of 

common shares outstanding for the period was 100,000 + 5,000 − 250 = 104,750. 

The calculation of WANCSO is an important step in the calculation of Earnings Per Share. The following 

table shows the main share transactions and for what time period each is included in WANCSO. 

Share Item Included for what time period 

Shares issued or sold during the year. (It 

does not matter whether the shares are previ-

ously unissued shares or treasury shares that 

are being resold. Both are treated the same 

way in calculating WANCSO because treasury 

shares are not outstanding while held by the  

company.) 

Only the time period they are outstanding after be-

ing issued. 

Shares reacquired by the company during 

the year. 

Only the time period before they are reacquired. 

This is accomplished by subtracting the shares re-

acquired, weighted for the period they were not 

outstanding, from the number of shares outstanding 

at the beginning of the period. 

Shares issued as a part of a stock split. The entire year and all prior periods presented as 

comparative periods, as if the split had occurred at 

the beginning of the first period presented. All shares 

outstanding at the beginning of the period and all 

shares issued or acquired before the stock split took 

place are adjusted for the stock split. 

Shares issued as a stock dividend. The entire year and all prior periods presented as 

comparative periods, as if the stock dividend had 

been distributed at the beginning of the first period 

presented. All shares outstanding at the beginning of 

the period and all shares issued or acquired before 

the stock dividend took place are adjusted for the 

stock dividend. 

Treatment of shares issued or acquired after a 

stock dividend or a stock split has taken place 

Shares issued or acquired after a stock dividend or 

stock split has taken place are not adjusted for the 

stock dividend or stock split. 
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Example No. 1: Matthew Corp. has 100,000 common shares, par value $10, outstanding on January 1, 

20X0. During 20X0, the following share transactions take place: 

• On April 1, 10,000 shares are issued for $50 each. 

• On August 1, Matthew repurchases 24,000 shares to be held as treasury stock. 

• On October 1, Matthew carries out a 2-for-1 stock split. 

• On November 1, 15,000 shares are issued for $55 each. 

• On December 15, Matthew declares a 10% stock dividend. 

The calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is as follows: 

Date # Shares Weighting Wtd. Avg. Adjustments for splits/stock dividends 

Jan. 1 100,000 outstanding 12/12 100,000 100,000 × 2 × 1.1 = 220,000 

Apr. 1 +10,000 issued 9/12 7,500 7,500 × 2 × 1.1 = 16,500 

Aug. 1 (24,000) repurchased 5/12 * (10,000) (10,000) × 2 × 1.1 =  ( 22,000) 

Oct. 1  2-for-1 stock split: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the split by 2. 

Nov. 1 +15,000 issued 2/12  2,500 2,500 × 1.1 = **      2,750 

Dec. 15 10% stock dividend: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the 

 stock dividend by 1.1     _______ 

  Total WANCSO        217,250 

* The shares repurchased will not be outstanding for five months from August 1 through December 

31. We are not weighting the treasury shares reacquired according to the number of months they 

were outstanding because those shares are already included in the 100,000 shares outstanding at 

the beginning of the year. Instead, we need to weight them according to the time the repurchased 

shares were not outstanding and subtract the weighted number of shares not outstanding from the 

number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year. 

** Note that the opening number of shares outstanding and the April 1 and August 1 transactions that 

pre-date both the stock split and the stock dividend are adjusted for both the stock split that occurred 

on October 1 and the stock dividend that occurred on December 15. The 15,000 shares issued on 

November 1 took place after the October 1 stock split, however, so the number of shares issued on 

November 1 are not adjusted for the October 1 stock split because those 15,000 shares issued after 

the stock split did not receive the additional shares from the split. Those shares are, however, ad-

justed for the 10% stock dividend that took place on December 15 after those shares were issued 

on November 1, because those shares did receive the 10% stock dividend. Adjustments for stock 

splits and stock dividends are made only to shares/transactions that were in place before 

the stock split or stock dividend occurred. 

 

There are other ways of calculating WANCSO, as well. Whichever way it is done, the resulting weighted 

average should be the same as if you had taken the number of shares outstanding on each day of the year 

(including all adjustments for stock splits and stock dividends as if they had occurred at the beginning of 

the period for all shares outstanding at that time), added them together (including weekend days as days 

when no change takes place), and divided the sum by 365 days. All of the methods of calculating WANCSO 

are shortcuts to that number.  

An exam question might present the facts as transaction data, as above, or as number of shares outstanding 

on each date. Thus, it is a good idea to be familiar with the various ways of calculating WANCSO. Two 

additional methods follow. 
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Using the same facts as in the previous example, here are two other ways of calculating WANCSO: 

Example No. 2: Matthew Corp. has 100,000 common shares, par value $10, outstanding on January 1, 

20X0. During 20X0, the following share transactions take place: 

• On April 1, 10,000 shares are issued for $50, and the number of shares outstanding becomes 

110,000. 

• On August 1, Matthew repurchases 24,000 shares to be held as treasury stock, and the number of 

shares outstanding becomes 86,000. 

• On October 1, Matthew carries out a 2-for-1 stock split, and the number of shares outstanding 

becomes 172,000. 

• On November 1, 15,000 shares are issued for $55 each, and the number of shares outstanding 

becomes 187,000. 

• On December 15, Matthew declares a 10% stock dividend, and the number of shares outstanding 

becomes 205,700. 

Using the number of shares outstanding on each date, the calculation of the weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding is done as follows: 

Period Outstanding Total Shares Weighting Wtd. Avg. Adjustments for splits/stock dividends 

Jan. 1-Mar. 31 100,000 3/12 25,000 25,000 × 2 × 1.1 = 55,000 

Apr. 1-Jul. 31  110,000 4/12 36,667 36,667 × 2 × 1.1 = 80,667 

Aug. 1-Dec. 31 86,000 5/12 35,833 35,833 × 2 × 1.1 = 78,833 

Oct. 1 2-for-1 stock split: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the 

split by 2. 

Nov. 1-Dec. 31 15,000 2/12 2,500 2,500 × 1.1 = *       2,750 

Dec. 15 10% stock dividend: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the 

stock dividend by 1.1.    _______ 

   Total WANCSO     217,250 

* Note that the additional shares outstanding for the period November 1 through December 31 as a 

result of the stock dividend are only the 15,000 shares that were issued on November 1. The shares 

that were outstanding before those 15,000 shares were issued are included in the number outstanding 

from August 1 through December 31. The existing 86,000 shares and the issued 15,000 shares are 

recorded separately because (1) their weightings are different and (2) the 86,000 existing shares 

needed to be adjusted for the 2-for-1 stock split that occurred on October 1 and the 10% stock 

dividend on December 15, whereas the 15,000 shares issued on November 1 needed to be adjusted 

only for the stock dividend that occurred after their issuance.  

 Adjustments for stock splits and stock dividends are made only to shares that were issued 

and outstanding before the stock split or stock dividend occurred. 
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Example No. 3: Matthew Corp. has 100,000 common shares, par value $10, outstanding on January 1, 

20X0. During 20X0, the following share transactions take place: 

• On April 1, 10,000 shares are issued for $50. 

• On August 1, Matthew repurchases 24,000 shares to be held as treasury stock. 

• On October 1, Matthew carries out a 2-for-1 stock split.  

• On November 1, 15,000 shares are issued for $55 each. 

• On December 15, Matthew declares a 10% stock dividend. 

Beginning with the minimum number of shares outstanding all year and building up the average using 

the shares outstanding for part of the year, the calculation of the weighted average number of common 

shares outstanding can be done as follows: 

 Total Shares Weighting Wtd. Avg. Adj. for splits/stock dividends 

Minimum outst. Jan. 1-Dec. 31 76,000 * 12/12 76,000 76,000 × 2 × 1.1 = 167,200 

Outstanding Apr. 1-Dec. 31  10,000  9/12 7,500 7,500 × 2 × 1.1 = 16,500 

Outstanding Jan. 1-Jul. 31** 24,000  7/12 14,000 14,000 × 2 × 1.1 = 30,800 

2-for-1 stock split on Oct. 1: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the split by 2. 

Outstanding Nov. 1-Dec. 31 15,000  2/12 2,500 2,500 × 1.1 =***      2,750 

10% stock dividend on Dec. 15: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the stock divi-

dend by 1.1.       _______ 

   Total WANCSO      217,250 

* 100,000 shares outstanding on Jan. 1 minus the 24,000 shares repurchased August 1 = 76,000, 

the minimum number of shares outstanding all year. 

** The period January 1 through July 31 is the period of time (7 months) during which the 24,000 

repurchased shares were outstanding before they were repurchased. 

*** Note that all shares for which the outstanding period began before the October 1 stock split are 

adjusted for that stock split and for the stock dividend received December 15. The 15,000 shares 

issued on November 1 took place after the October 1 stock split, so the 15,000 shares outstanding 

from Nov. 1 to Dec. 31 are not adjusted for the October 1 stock split. They are, however, adjusted 

for the 10% stock dividend that took place on December 15 after they were issued.  

 Adjustments for stock splits and stock dividends are made only to shares/transactions 

that were in place before the stock split or stock dividend occurred. 

 

Note: A company can also carry out a reverse split of its shares. This might be done, for example, 

when a company is in financial trouble and its stock price falls to a level where the stock is in danger of 

being de-listed from the stock exchange(s) where it is traded. A reverse split increases the price per 

share and decreases the number of shares outstanding.  

For example, a company with a weighted average number of shares outstanding of 97,500 that carries 

out a 1-for-2 reverse split will have a WANCSO of 48,750 shares after the reverse split (97,500 ÷ 2). 

The market price of each share will generally double in order to maintain the same market capitalization 

for the company, thus raising the share price above the level below which the shares would be de-listed. 

For the purposes of calculating WANCSO, a reverse split is also treated as occurring at the beginning of 

the first period presented in the financial statements, the same as a stock dividend or stock split is 

treated. 

Now that we have covered the calculations for IAC and WANCSO, we can turn our attention to the calculation 

of BEPS and then DEPS. 
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Basic Earnings Per Share  

The formula used in the calculation of Basic EPS is: 

Income Available to Common Shareholders (IAC) 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding (WANCSO) 

 

If the company has net income or a net loss from discontinued operations on the income statement that 

are reported below the income from continuing operations line, Basic EPS must be calculated three times:  

1) Using income from continuing operations minus preferred dividends in the numerator. 

2) Using the income from discontinued operations in the numerator. 

3) Using net income minus preferred dividends in the numerator.  

However, exam questions will generally not have any discontinued operations, so the numerator of the 

Basic EPS calculation for the Exam will usually simply be net income minus preferred dividends.  

 

Example 1: Redford’s capital structure at December 31, 20X1 was as follows: 

• 100,000 shares of common stock issued and outstanding. 

• 20,000 of nonconvertible preferred shares issued and outstanding. 

On July 1, 20X2, Redford issued a 10% stock dividend on its common stock and declared and paid a 

cash dividend of $2 per share on its preferred stock. Net income for the year ending December 31, 20X2 

was $780,000. Calculate Redford’s basic EPS. 

The calculation of IAC is as follows: 

 Net income $780,000 

− Preferred dividend   (  40,000) 

= Income available to common shareholders $740,000 

The calculation of WANCSO is as follows: 

Date # Shares Weighting Wtd. Avg. Adjustments for splits/stock dividends 

Jan. 1  100,000 outstanding 12/12 100,000 100,000 × 1.1 = 110,000 

July 1 10% stock dividend: multiply the weighted average of each item previous to the split by 1.1 

       _______ 

 Total WANCSO   110,000 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as follows: 

 ($780,000 – [20,000 × $2]) ÷ 110,000 = $6.73 

 

Example 2: Let us assume the same information, except that instead of a 10% stock dividend on July 

1, Redford simply issued and sold 10,000 new shares on July 1. Since no stock split or stock dividend 

occurred, the final column is not required. WANCSO is the total of the amounts in the Weighted Average 

column, as follows: 

(Continued) 
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The calculation of WANCSO is as follows: 

Date # Shares Weighting Wtd. Avg. 

Jan. 1 100,000 outstanding 12/12 100,000 

July 1 +10,000 issued 6/12     5,000 

 Total WANCSO  105,000 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as follows: 

$780,000 – [20,000 × $2]) ÷ 105,000 = $7.047 = $7.05 

When the shares were sold as in Example 2 rather than distributed as a stock dividend as in Example 1, 

WANCSO was lower and the resulting BEPS was higher.  

The difference is due to the fact that we assume the shares issued in the stock dividend were outstanding 

for the full year, whereas the shares issued and sold were not outstanding for the full year. 

Diluted Earnings Per Share (DEPS) 

When we calculate diluted earnings per share (DEPS), we pretend that all securities representing potentially 

issuable common shares that were outstanding at the year-end had actually been converted or exercised 

on January 1 (or on the date the securities representing the potential common shares were issued, if they 

were issued during the year). These potentially issuable shares are in the form of convertible bonds, con-

vertible preferred shares, and options and warrants that are outstanding at the end of the year. They are 

classified as “potentially issuable shares” because they are not currently outstanding as shares, but some-

one other than the company has the ability to convert them into common shares. 

The calculation of DEPS is done so that investors and potential investors are able to understand what EPS 

would have been if these potentially issuable shares had actually been outstanding shares. If, for example, 

the company has many potentially issuable shares outstanding in the form of stock options issued to exec-

utives, the exercise of those options in the future could greatly reduce the earnings per share of the existing 

shareholders. 

If the company has no potential common shares (options, warrants, convertible securities), it has a simple 

capital structure and its DEPS will be the same as its BEPS. If the company does have potential common 

shares, it has a complex capital structure.  

A company that has a complex capital structure must report both basic and diluted earnings per share on 

the face of the income statement with equal prominence. 

Note: Remember that in calculating DEPS, we are working only with potentially issuable shares that 

have not yet been issued. Any of these items actually converted into common stock during the year are 

included in the calculation of Basic EPS instead. 

Evaluating Whether or Not Potential Common Shares Are Dilutive 

Potential common shares are included in the calculation of DEPS only if they are dilutive. In other words, 

if they had been exercised during the period and their exercise would have caused a decrease in basic 

earnings per share, they are dilutive. If their exercise would have caused an increase in basic earnings 

per share (as some potential common shares can do), they are antidilutive and are not included in the 

calculation of DEPS. 

Each issue of potential common stock must be considered individually in determining whether it is dilutive 

and thus to be included in the calculation of DEPS, or whether it is antidilutive and should be excluded from 

the calculation of DEPS.  
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Furthermore, per ASC 260-10-45-18, the effect on EPS of each issue of potential common stock must be 

considered in the proper sequence, from the most dilutive to the least dilutive. If they are considered 

in the wrong sequence, the resulting DEPS could be incorrect. 

Options and warrants are usually evaluated and included first because their exercise would affect only the 

denominator of the EPS calculation, whereas the conversion of convertible securities would affect both the 

numerator and the denominator. Thus, if options and warrants are dilutive, they will be more dilutive than 

convertible securities that are dilutive. 

Options and Warrants 

Outstanding stock options and warrants issued by the company are evaluated for their dilutive potential 

using the treasury stock method.  The treasury stock method assumes that: 

• The options and warrants were converted into common stock at the beginning of the period (or at 

the time of issuance, if issued during the period), and 

• The proceeds were used to purchase the company’s common stock (treasury stock) at the average 

market price during the period. 

Options and warrants would not cause any effect on the numerator of the EPS calculation if exercised, 

because their exercise would not change income available to common stockholders. However, the exercise 

of options and warrants would cause an increase in the weighted average number of common shares out-

standing, the denominator of the EPS calculation.  

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased by the difference between the 

number of shares potentially to be issued and the number of shares that would be purchased for the 

treasury to replace the shares issued, calculated using the proceeds that would have been received from 

the sale of the new shares and the average market price of the stock during the period. 

• If the options give purchasers the right to purchase stock at an exercise price that is below the 

average market price, the number of treasury shares presumed to be purchased with the proceeds 

of the sale will be less than the number of shares that would be sold in the option conversions. 

Thus, the net number of outstanding shares will increase, and the potential common stock will be 

dilutive.  

• However, if the exercise price of the options or warrants is above the average market price, the 

number of treasury shares that could be purchased with the proceeds of the sale would be greater 

than the number of shares that would be sold in the option conversions, and the net number of 

outstanding shares would decrease. Thus, if the exercise price of options or warrants is higher 

than the average market price for the period, the options or warrants are antidilutive. Furthermore, 

if the exercise price is above the average market price, the options or warrants would not be 

exercised. 
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Note: Companies sometimes offer stock options to their employees. This type of option is a form of 

compensation. It allows the employee to buy shares of the company’s stock at a price that is usually a 

discount to the current market price when the options are issued.  

When employee stock options are first issued, they are generally not vested. Vested stock options are 

options the employees may exercise. During the period that the options are unvested, the employees 

cannot exercise them. A waiting period may be required before the options become vested and the 

employees can exercise them to purchase the stock. Alternatively, the vesting of the options may be 

dependent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions, such as the company’s reaching certain perfor-

mance objectives.  

 Unvested stock options that depend only on the future passage of time to become vested are in-

cluded in the calculation of Diluted EPS if they are dilutive. Even though they were not available for 

exercise during the period (because the required time for them to become vested had not passed), 

they are to be included in the calculation of Diluted EPS per ASC 260-10-45-22. 

 However, unvested stock options that depend upon the satisfaction of certain conditions are consid-

ered contingently issuable shares. Contingently issuable shares are included in the calculation of 

Diluted EPS only if the required conditions have been satisfied or if the contingency period 

has expired by the end of the reporting period and if they are dilutive, per ASC 260-10-45-31 and 

ASC 260-10-45-48. 

Convertible Securities 

Convertible securities are analyzed for their dilutive potential using the if-converted method. The if-

converted method assumes that the convertible security was converted at the beginning of the period 

or at its time of issuance, if issued during the period. The effect on income available to common 

shareholders due to decreased liability for interest expense (net of tax) or for preferred dividends if the 

convertible securities had been converted is an adjustment (increase) to IAC in the numerator of the EPS 

calculation, and the effect on the number of outstanding shares if the convertible securities had been con-

verted is an adjustment (increase) to WANCSO in the denominator. 

DEPS Calculation 

DEPS is calculated by following the steps below, and we will look at each step in detail: 

1) Calculate BEPS. 

2) Calculate the EPS Effect of warrants and options.  

3) If warrants or options are dilutive, add their effect to WANCSO and calculate Intermediate DEPS. 

4) Calculate the EPS Effect of convertible bonds or convertible preferred shares. 

5) Rank the EPS Effects from convertible securities, from the most dilutive to the least dilutive. 

6) In the correct order from the most dilutive to the least dilutive, add the effect of each convertible 

security to both IAC and WANCSO to calculate Intermediate DEPS for each security until reaching 

a security that is antidilutive.  

7) Calculate the final Diluted EPS. 
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1. Calculate BEPS 

Beginning with BEPS, make the series of adjustments needed to arrive at DEPS. Each of the adjustments 

will involve an adjustment to IAC or WANCSO, or both. 

2. Calculate the Impact of Warrants and Options 

Whenever a company has warrants or options outstanding at the end of the year, the options or warrants 

represent potentially issuable shares. As such, we must include the impact of these warrants and options 

into the DEPS calculation. 

There is a 3-step process to determine how many shares to add to WANCSO related to these options and 

warrants: 

1) Assume that all of the options were actually exercised on January 1 of the current year or on the 

issue date, if issued during the year. As a result, there will be a number of new shares “issued.” 

(Remember that they have not actually been issued but this calculation of new shares that could 

have been issued is a hypothetical scenario.) In this process of exercising the warrants and options, 

we pretend the company has also received as cash the exercise price of the warrant or option. 

2) We then pretend that the company takes the money received from the exercise of the options or 

warrants and uses it to repurchase its own shares from the market at the average market price 

for the year. Calculate the number of shares the company could have repurchased at the average 

market price with the money received from the exercise of the options or warrants. 

3) Finally, the company nets together the number of shares that would have been issued in the 

exercise of the warrants or options and the number of shares that would have been repurchased 

using the proceeds from the sale of the newly issued shares. The result is the net number of shares 

that would have been “issued” as a result of the warrants’ or options’ exercise. Again, no shares 

have actually been issued or repurchased; this has all been hypothetical. 

Note: If the exercise price of the warrants or options is greater than the average market price of a 

share, we do not even need to do the above calculations. The exercise of the options or warrants would 

be antidilutive because more shares would be repurchased than issued. WANCSO would be decreased 

while IAC would be unchanged, resulted in increased earnings per share. Furthermore, no one holding 

an option or warrant would exercise it to purchase newly-issued shares at the higher price if he or she 

could buy an already-issued share for less on the open market. 

3. Add the Dilutive Options/Warrants to WANCSO and Calculate Intermediate DEPS 

Once the net number of shares potentially issued from exercise of the warrants or options has been calcu-

lated, if it causes the weighted average number of common shares to increase and is thus dilutive, we add 

it to the WANCSO that was calculated for BEPS. Dividing IAC by the adjusted WANCSO gives us what we 

will call the Intermediate DEPS. You will see later that there are potentially a number of steps between 

BEPS and DEPS. During this process, we will call each of the resulting EPS numbers Intermediate DEPS, 

or IDEPS. 
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Example: Kelly Corp. had a net income of $1,000,000 for the year just past and the company had 

500,000 common shares outstanding throughout the period.  

Kelly had outstanding all year 7,500 shares of $100 par value preferred stock paying a 4% dividend, for 

a par value outstanding of $750,000 ($100 × 7,500). Preferred dividends in the amount of $30,000 

($750,000 × 0.04) were declared and paid during the year.  

The company’s BEPS was $1.94, calculated as follows: 

IAC = $1,000,000 − $30,000 preferred dividend = $970,000. 

WANCSO is given as 500,000 common shares.  

Therefore, BEPS = $970,000 ÷ 500,000 = $1.94. 

During the year previous to the year for which DEPS is being calculated, Kelly also granted options to its 

president to purchase 30,000 common shares at a price of $10 per share. In other words, the stock 

options were outstanding during the full year for which DEPS is being calculated. During the year, Kelly’s 

common stock sold at the following prices: 

 January 1 $22 

 December 31 $30 

 Average Price $27 

In order to calculate the net number of shares that would have been “issued” due to exercise of the 

stock options for the calculation of DEPS, we will assume that all of the outstanding options were exer-

cised on January 1 of the year just past and that the company used the cash proceeds from that exercise 

to repurchase its own shares as treasury stock.  

Cash received from the exercise: 30,000 × $10  $300,000 

÷ Repurchase price (average price)   ÷      $27 

= Number of treasury shares repurchased   11,111  

A total of 30,000 new shares would have been sold but 11,111 shares would have been repurchased for 

the treasury. Thus, the net number of potential new common shares as a result of the options exercise 

would have been 18,889 (30,000 − 11,111).  

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding would have increased from 500,000 to 

518,889, and thus this option is dilutive because it will cause EPS to decrease. 

The calculation of IDEPS is: $970,000 ÷ (500,000 + 18,889) = $1.87. This means that if the options 

had been exercised on January 1, EPS for the year would have decreased from $1.94 to $1.87. 

4. Calculate the EPS Effect of Convertible Bonds and Preferred Shares 

The next step in the calculation of DEPS is to determine what effect any convertible bonds and/or convertible 

preferred shares that were outstanding on December 31 would have had on IAC and WANCSO if they had 

actually been converted into common stock on January 1. This process is the calculation of the EPS Effect. 

The EPS Effect determines how much more income would have been available to common shareholders and 

how many more shares would have been outstanding if all of the convertible bonds or convertible preferred 

shares had actually been converted to common stock on January 1. Because of the difference between 

bonds and shares in respect to taxes, we will look at each of them separately. 
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Convertible Bonds 

If the bondholders had converted their convertible bonds into common stock on January 1 (or when issued, 

if issued during the year), more common shares would have been outstanding during the year and more 

income would have been available to the common shareholders.  

• More shares would have been outstanding because of the issuance of the new shares.  

• More income would have been available to common shareholders because the company would not 

have paid interest on the bonds converted to common stock. However, not all of the saved interest 

would have been available to common shareholders. The company’s taxable income would have 

been higher if it had not paid the interest, and the increased taxable income would have caused 

the company’s income taxes to be higher. Therefore, we need to subtract the effect of the increased 

income taxes from the amount of the saved interest.  

Putting these together, the EPS Effect of convertible bonds is calculated as follows: 
 

EPS Effect of Convertible Bonds = 
Interest on the Bonds × (1 – Tax Rate) 

# of Shares the Bonds are Converted Into 

 

Continuing the Kelly Corp. example: In addition to the options, Kelly had outstanding all year 1,000 

convertible bonds of $1,000 face value each with a total face value of $1,000,000 that incurred interest 

of 5% per annum. Each $1,000 bond was convertible into 10 common shares. Kelly’s tax rate is 30%.  

The numerator of the EPS Effect is: ($1,000,000 × 0.05) × (1 – 0.30) = $35,000 in net interest that 

would have been saved as a result of the conversion of the convertible bonds to common stock. 

The denominator of the EPS Effect is: ($1,000,000 ÷ $1,000) × 10 = 10,000 new common shares that 

would have been issued as a result of the conversion. 

The EPS Effect of the convertible bonds is: $35,000 ÷ 10,000 = 3.5. 

Until we have calculated the EPS Effect for all convertible securities, this is as far as we go with this. 

Convertible Preferred Shares 

If the preferred shareholders had converted their convertible preferred shares into common stock on Jan-

uary 1, more common shares would have been outstanding during the year and probably more income 

would have been available to the common shareholders (because the preferred dividend would have been 

eliminated).  

Whether and how much more income would have been available to common shareholders would depend 

upon the type of preferred shares and whether any dividends had been declared or earned during the year. 

1) If the preferred shares were cumulative preferred shares, the amount of dividends that they 

earned during the period would have become available to common shareholders as a result of the 

conversion. 

2) If the preferred shares were noncumulative preferred shares, more income would have become 

available to common shareholders only if preferred dividends were declared during the year. 

However, in both cases above related to dividends, no adjustment is made for taxes. Because dividends 

are distributed after tax, they do not affect net taxable income.  

Putting these together, the EPS Effect of convertible preferred shares is calculated as follows: 
 

EPS Effect of Convertible 

       Preferred Shares 
= 

Dividends Earned (cumulative) and/or  

Declared (noncumulative) 

# of Common Shares the Preferred Shares are Converted Into 
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Continuing the Kelly Corp. example: The 7,500 shares of $100 par value preferred stock that Kelly 

had outstanding all year and that paid a 4% dividend were convertible preferred shares (noncumulative). 

The par value outstanding was $750,000 ($100 × 7,500). Preferred dividends in the amount of $30,000 

($750,000 × 0.04) were declared and paid during the year. Each preferred share was convertible into 

10 common shares at the option of the owner. 

The numerator of the EPS Effect is: (7,500 × $100) × (0.04) = $30,000 in dividends that would have 

been saved as a result of the conversion of the convertible preferred stock to common stock. 

The denominator of the EPS Effect is: 7,500 × 10 = 75,000 new common shares that would have been 

issued as a result of the conversion. 

The EPS Effect of the convertible preferred stock is: $30,000 ÷ 75,000 = 0.40. 

The EPS Effect needs to be calculated as above for each individual class of convertible securities. 

5. Rank the EPS Effects from Convertible Securities 

After they have all been calculated for all the classes of convertible securities, the EPS Effects of all the 

convertible securities are ranked according to their EPS Effects, from the lowest ratio to the highest ratio. 

The lower the ratio of the numerator to the denominator, the more dilutive the securities are because the 

more their conversion would decrease the company’s EPS.  

Therefore, the lower the EPS Effect is, the more dilutive the security is. 

EPS will be adjusted and Intermediate DEPS calculated separately for each security according to its dilution 

effect, from the most dilutive (the lowest EPS Effect ratio) to the least dilutive (the highest EPS Effect ratio). 

Note: The EPS Effect of the outstanding stock options was not calculated because if it had been calcu-

lated, it would have been zero. The numerator would have been zero because exercise of the stock 

options would cause no change in IAC. The denominator would have been 30,000 because exercise of 

the stock options would have caused the number of shares to increase by 30,000. A zero in the numer-

ator of any division calculation results in a quotient of zero.  

Options and warrants are not always dilutive, even though their EPS Effect is always zero. Options and 

warrants are dilutive only if the exercise price for the common stock is lower than the average price of 

the common stock during the period. If options and warrants are dilutive, their EPS Effect of zero 

makes them the most dilutive of all the potential common stock. Therefore, if options and war-

rants are dilutive, they are always included first in the calculation of DEPS without needing to calculate 

their EPS Effect. 

 

Continuing the example of Kelly Corp.: 

Kelly’s rankings for the convertible securities are as follows, from the lowest EPS Effect (the most dilu-

tive) to the highest EPS Effect (the least dilutive): 

(1) Convertible preferred stock - 0.4. 

(2) Convertible bonds - 3.5. 

Because its EPS Effect is lower than the EPS Effect of the convertible bonds, the convertible preferred 

stock is more dilutive than the convertible bonds are. 

6. Add in the EPS Effects of the Convertible Securities 

Now that the EPS Effect has been calculated for the convertible bonds and the convertible preferred shares, 

we are ready to add them into the IDEPS number that we started working on in Step 3. 
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We are going to add the EPS Effect of one convertible security at a time. In the process of adding EPS 

Effects into IDEPS, we will simply add together the numerators and denominators of the two numbers. 

The EPS Effects of the bonds and shares are added to both IAC and WANCSO one at a time in a very 

specific order according to their ranking in Step 5. We start with the most dilutive security (the 

convertible bonds or convertible preferred shares that have the lowest EPS Effect) and add this one first, 

calculating a new IDEPS. After adding the first (and lowest) EPS Effect, we take the security with the next 

lowest EPS Effect (next most dilutive security) and add that security’s numerator and denominator to the 

IAC and WANCSO of the recalculated IDEPS figure and recalculate IDEPS again.  

This will be done until we reach an IDEPS is higher than the previous IDEPS. If any convertible security 

would cause IDEPS to increase (instead of decrease), calculation of IDEPS stops without including that 

security or any others with higher EPS Effects. 

Note: The EPS Effect is a ratio between the amount of change in the numerator and the amount of 

change in the denominator of the EPS calculation as a result of each potentially dilutive security. The 

EPS Effect of each security does not represent the amount of change that would occur in EPS if those 

potential common shares were issued. The sole purpose of calculating the EPS Effect of each potentially 

dilutive security is to determine each security’s ranking among all potentially dilutive securities. When 

the EPS Effect numerator and denominator of each security are added to the numerator and the denom-

inator of the EPS calculation, the amount by which the IDEPS changes will not be equal to that security’s 

EPS Effect. 

7. Calculate the Final DEPS 

We continue adding the security with the next lowest EPS Effect (the next most dilutive) until the Interme-

diate DEPS is actually higher than the last IDEPS figure. At this point we stop the process because the 

security that causes IDEPS to increase is antidilutive. Antidilutive securities are excluded, and the next-

to-last IDEPS number becomes the final DEPS. 

Any remaining convertible bonds or preferred shares will also be antidilutive since their inclusion would 

also increase DEPS. The antidilutive securities are not included in the DEPS calculation, but they must be 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements because in the future they may be dilutive. 

Continuing the Kelly Corp. example: Recall that we have already calculated BEPS and the Interme-

diate DEPS after including the stock options. Those calculations are included below: 

 (Numerator)  (Denominator) 

      IAC  ÷ WANCSO =    EPS  

Net income $1,000,000 

Minus: Preferred dividend − 30,000 

BEPS $  970,000 ÷ 500,000 = $1.94 

Stock options               0 +  18,889 

IDEPS $  970,000 ÷ 518,889 = $1.87 

Convertible Preferred Stock +     30,000 +  75,000 

IDEPS $1,000,000 ÷ 593,889 = $1.68 

Convertible Bond +     35,000 +  10,000 

IDEPS $1,035,000 ÷ 603,889 = $1.71 

Note that with the addition of the convertible bond into the calculation, the Intermediate DEPS in-

creases. That increase means the convertible bond is antidilutive, and so it is excluded from the 

calculation of DEPS. The final DEPS is $1.68.  

The final weighted average number of common shares used to calculate DEPS is 593,889. 
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Note: Recall that the calculated EPS Effect of the convertible bond in the Kelly Corp. example above was 

3.5. That number is greater than the Intermediate DEPS of $1.68 that precedes it. Whenever the 

calculated EPS Effect of any security is greater than the Intermediate DEPS just preceding it 

(or the Basic EPS, if it is the first security being evaluated), that security will be antidilutive 

and it can simply be omitted from the calculation of IDEPS. 

The EPS Effect for warrants and options is always zero since there is no impact on net income and zero 

divided by anything is zero, so warrants and options are always added first to BEPS if they are dilutive. 

However, do not automatically assume that all options and warrants are dilutive. If the purchase price the 

holder of the option or warrant would pay for the stock is higher than the average market price of the stock, 

the option or warrant is antidilutive and will be excluded. 

Table for the Calculation of the EPS Effects 

The following table shows the process of calculating the EPS Effect for each of these items.  

 Numerator (IAC) Denominator 

(WANCSO) 

EPS Effect 

Options and 

Warrants using the 

treasury stock 

method. The 

proceeds from the 

exercise are used to 

buy back treasury 

shares at the 

average market 

price for the year, 

and the net new 

number of shares is 

the number of new 

shares issued minus 

the number of 

treasury shares 

purchased. 

No impact on the nu-

merator as no 

dividends or interest 

payments are re-

lated to the options 

or warrants. 

If the average market 

price of the stock is 

lower than the exercise 

price, the options or 

warrants are antidilutive 

and not included in the 

calculation. 

If the average market 

price is higher than the 

exercise price, assume 

that the proceeds from 

the exercise were used 

to buy back shares. The 

difference between the 

shares issued and 

bought back is added to 

the denominator. 

0 

Net Shares Issued in 

Transactions 

Net shares issued is calculated 

as follows: 

Shares that would have been 

issued in the exercise of the 

options minus the number of 

shares repurchased at the 

average market price using 

the proceeds from the exercise 

of the options or warrants. 

Because zero divided by any-

thing is zero, the EPS effect of 

options and warrants will be 

zero. However, if the exercise 

price is higher than the market 

price, the net shares issued 

will be negative and the op-

tions/warrants are anti-dilutive 

and are excluded. 

Convertible 

Preferred Shares 

using the if-

converted method, 

assuming the 

shares had been 

converted. 

The amount of pre-

ferred dividends that 

would not have been 

declared or earned if 

the shares had been 

converted. 

The number of common 

shares that would have 

been issued if the pre-

ferred shares had been 

converted to common 

shares. 

Preferred Dividends 

Common Shares Issued in 

Conversion 

Convertible Debt 

using the if-

converted method, 

assuming the bonds 

had been converted. 

The amount of inter-

est that would not 

have needed to be 

paid minus the 

amount of taxes that 

would have been 

paid on the resulting 

higher income.  

The number of common 

shares that would have 

been issued if the debt 

had been converted. 

Interest Expense × (1–tax rate) 

Common Shares Issued in 

Conversion 
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Note: For the purpose of calculating DEPS, we assume that all of the conversions and exercises occurred 

at the beginning of the first year presented unless the options, warrants or convertible securities 

were actually issued at a later date. If the securities were issued at a later date, we assume they were 

converted on the date they were issued (and adjust WANCSO accordingly). This needs to be done so the 

diluted EPS in each of the periods disclosed will be comparable to that of other periods disclosed in the 

financial statements. 

However, note that the calculation of DEPS must be done separately for each individual year. For exam-

ple, if the same options were outstanding during all of the periods presented, the calculation of the 

number of net new shares must be made for each year individually, using the average market price of 

the stock for that year. We do not assume that the options were exercised at the beginning of the earliest 

year and then would not have been exercised again. Instead, we need to assume they were exercised 

each year. In some years the options may be dilutive and in other years, the same options may be 

antidilutive, depending upon the average share price during the year. 

In reality, for calculation questions on the exam, you need to worry only about the year the question 

asks about. However, for presentation purposes, we assume that all of the dilutive options, warrants, 

and convertible securities were converted at the beginning of the first year presented and each subse-

quent year. 

 

Example: Wally Corp.’s Basic EPS is $3.50 ($35,000 IAC ÷ 10,000 WANCSO). The company has con-

vertible bonds and convertible preferred shares that have the following EPS Effects. (Note: Income and 

share numbers and the EPS Effects have simply been created for purposes of this example. They cannot 

be recalculated from the information given.) 

 Convertible Bond A  $1,340 ÷ 1,000 = $1.34 

 Convertible Bond B $1,365 ÷ 500 = $2.73 

 Convertible Preferred Shares A $1,485 ÷ 750 = $1.98 

 Convertible Preferred Shares B $3,410 ÷ 1,000 = $3.41 

The four securities are ranked as follows from the lowest EPS Effect to the highest EPS Effect: 

 1) Convertible Bond A    $1.34 

 2) Convertible Preferred Shares A   $1.98 

 3) Convertible Bond B   $2.73 

 4) Convertible Preferred Shares B   $3.41 

The calculation of the Intermediate DEPS for each security and the final DEPS is: 

     IAC  ÷ WANCSO =    EPS  

Basic EPS (NI – Pref. Div.) ÷ WANCSO $35,000 10,000 $3.50 

1) Convertible Bond A +   1,340  +  1,000 

 IDEPS $36,340 ÷ 11,000 = $3.30 

2) Convertible Preferred Shares A +   1,485 +    750 

 IDEPS $37,825 ÷ 11,750 = $3.22 

3) Convertible Bond B +   1,365 +    500 

 IDEPS $39,190 ÷ 12,250 = $3.20 

Upon reaching this point we will stop in the calculation of IDEPS because the next security to be added, 

the Convertible Preferred Shares B, has an EPS Effect ($3.41) that is higher than our IDEPS ($3.20). If 

we were to add in the Convertible Preferred Shares B, the IDEPS would increase. Therefore, the Con-

vertible Preferred Shares B are antidilutive and are omitted. However, they must be disclosed in the 

Notes to the Financial Statements because in a future year they might be dilutive.  

Therefore, DEPS in this example is $3.20. 
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EPS Disclosures  

The following disclosures about EPS are required: 

• EPS figures must be presented on the face of the income statement for income from continuing 

operations and net income for all periods for which an income statement is presented.  

o Entities with simple capital structures (that is, those with only common stock outstanding and 

no potential common stock) shall present basic earnings per share amounts for income from 

continuing operations and for net income on the face of the income statement.  

o All other entitles shall present both basic and diluted earnings per share figures for income 

from continuing operations and net income, and they need to be shown with equal prominence 

(meaning one cannot be obvious and large while the other is small and hidden). 

o If diluted EPS data are reported for at least one period being presented, they must be reported 

for all periods presented, even for periods when they are the same amounts as Basic EPS. If 

basic and diluted EPS are the same amount, they can be presented in one line on the income 

statement. 

• If the entity also reports a discontinued operation in any period, it shall present basic and diluted 

earnings per share amounts for that line either on the face of the income statement or in the 

notes to the financial statements. 

• The entity must also disclose any potentially dilutive shares that were not included in the 

calculation of DEPS in the current period because they were antidilutive. 

• If there is a stock split or a stock dividend in the current year, the entity must go back and restate 

EPS and DEPS for all periods presented as if the split or dividend had occurred at the beginning 

of the first period presented. 

• For each period for which an income statement is presented, the entity shall provide a reconciliation 

of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations 

for income from continuing operations, including the individual income and share amount effects 

of all securities that affect DEPS and showing the effect given to preferred dividends in arriving at 

Income Available to Common Stockholders.87  

• For the latest period for which an income statement is presented, the entity shall describe any 

transaction occurring after the end of the most recent period but before the financial statements 

were issued or available to be issued that would have materially changed the number of common 

shares or potential common shares outstanding at the end of the period if the transaction had 

occurred before the end of the period. Examples of such transactions include issuance or acquisi-

tion of common shares, issuance of warrants, options, or convertible securities, or the conversion 

or exercise of potential common shares outstanding at the end of the period into common shares. 

• Cash flow per share information is not reported. 

 

 
87 The reconciliation would look very similar to the final calculation of diluted EPS for Kelly Corp. shown in this book.  
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Group F. Leases 

Note: Guidance in the Accounting Standards Codification® on accounting for leases is in ASC 842.  

 

The Principle 

The principle of the leasing standard in ASC 842 is that all leases should be reported by lessees on their 

balance sheets as right-of-use assets representing the leased assets and as lease liabilities representing 

the obligation to make lease payments over the term of the leases. 

This principle is consistent with FASB Concepts Statement No. 8, which states that “faithful representation” 

is a fundamental quality of useful accounting information. “Faithful representation” means that the items 

reported match what actually occurred. Therefore, to faithfully represent a leasing transaction, the asset 

leased and the liability to make lease payments should be reported on the balance sheet. 

All leases create an asset (the right to use the asset) and a liability (the liability to make lease payments) for 

the lessee, so the basic principle of Topic 842 is that a lessee should recognize the assets and liabilities 

that arise from leases.  

• A lessee should recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the leased asset for the 

term of the lease and  

• A lessee should also recognize the liability to make lease payments over the lease term.  

Each lease payment made by the lessee will include a payment of interest and a payment representing a 

reduction of the lease liability. 

Definition of a Lease 

A lease is an agreement between a lessor and a lessee. The lessor is the owner of the asset. The lessor 

leases the asset to the lessee, the one who is going to control the use of the asset and make payments to 

the lessor for the right to use the asset. 

According to ASC 842-10-20, a lease is:  

“A contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified prop-

erty, plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for 

consideration.” 

Identifying a Lease and its Components 

A contract is a lease or contains a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of the property, plant, or 

equipment for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Control over the use of an identified asset means that the lessee has both: 

1) The right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset, and 

2) The right to direct the use of the asset.13 

The economic benefits can be obtained directly or indirectly, for example by using, holding, or subleasing the 

asset. The economic benefits include the asset’s primary output and by-products and the cash flows that may 

be associated with using, holding, or subleasing the asset.14 

 
13 Per ASC 841-10-15-3 and 15-4. 
14 Per ASC 842-10-15-17. 
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After determining that a contract is or contains a lease, the entity must identify the separate lease 

components in the contract. The right to use an underlying asset is a component separate from any other 

lease components of the contract if both of the following are true: 

1) The lessee can benefit from the right of use either from the asset on its own or together with other 

resources that are readily available to the lessee. 

2) The right of use is not highly dependent on or highly interrelated with other right(s) to use underly-

ing assets in the contract. 

If a lease is for both land and other assets, the lessee must account for the right to use the land as a 

separate lease component unless the accounting effect of doing so would be insignificant.15 

Example: If a lease is for land and building, the land component must be separated from the building 

component and they must be accounted for separately. 

Lease Term 

The lease term is the noncancelable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset, plus all 

of the following: 

1) Periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 

option 

2) Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exer-

cise that option 

3) Periods covered by an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease in which exercise of the 

option is controlled by the lessor.16 

Lease Measurement – Lessee and Lessor 

When measuring the assets and liabilities arising from a lease, both the lessee and the lessor should include 

payments projected to be made in optional periods only if the lessee is reasonably certain to extend the 

lease, and they should include optional payments to purchase the leased asset only if the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option to purchase the asset. 

Example: An option to purchase the leased asset at a price significantly below its fair value would be an 

option the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. (Note: The term “bargain purchase option” is not used 

in ASC 842 to refer to an option the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise.) 

Both lessees and lessors must separate the lease components from the non-lease components in the 

contract.  

Non-lease components include services such as maintenance or other goods or services provided to the 

customer by the lessor, reimbursement or payment of the lessor’s costs such as taxes and insurance on the 

leased asset, and administrative tasks to set up a contract or initiate the lease that do not transfer a good or 

service to the lessee.17 

• The lessee is to allocate the consideration to be paid under the contract to the lease and non-lease 

components on a relative standalone price basis.18 

 
15 Per ASC 842-10-15-28 and 15-29. 
16 Per ASC 842-10-20 (Glossary). 
17 Per ASC 842-10-15-30. 
18 Per ASC 842-10-15-33. 
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• The lessor is to allocate the consideration to be received under the contract in accordance with 

guidance in Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, that is, on a relative standalone 

selling price basis. The objective, as expressed in Topic 606, is to allocate the transaction price to 

each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration the entity ex-

pects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring control of the promised goods or services to the 

customer.  

Only the lease components are to be accounted for in accordance with Topic 842. Any consideration paid by 

the lessee, either to the lessor or to a third party, for non-lease components is not a lease payment and is 

not included in the lessee’s measurement of lease assets and lease liabilities, even if it is included in 

the periodic lease payment. The portion of each lease payment attributable to non-lease components is 

accounted for in accordance with other applicable topics.  

Amounts paid exclusively to reimburse the lessor’s costs (payments made in addition to the lease payment) 

are not components of the contract and are not to be allocated any of the consideration in the contract.19 

Note: As a practical expedient, a lessee may make an accounting policy election by class of underlying 

asset to not separate non-lease components from lease components and instead to account for the lease 

and non-lease components as a single lease component.20  However, including non-lease components in 

the lease liability and right-of-use asset will have the effect of inflating the lessee’s balance sheet. 

 

Note: As is the case with bonds payable, the amount of interest that is expensed on the income statement 

each period by the lessee is based on the balance of the lease liability (analogous to the principal balance 

on a loan) that is outstanding during the period. Therefore, each time a lease payment is made, part of the 

payment represents interest and part of the payment represents a reduction of the lessee’s lease liability. 

Accounting for Leases by the Lessee 

The Categories of Leases for the Lessee 

For lessees, two different types of leases require the lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease 

liability. The two types are: 1) finance leases and 2) operating leases.  

A third type of lease may not require the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. For short-

term leases, defined as leases having a term of 12 months or less, the lessee may make an accounting 

policy election, by class of underlying asset, not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. 

If the lessee does not make such an accounting policy election by class of underlying asset with respect to 

short-term leases, short-term leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases and right-of-

use assets and lease liabilities are recognized for them. 

Lease Classification by the Lessee 

For the lessee, a finance lease is one that meets one or more of the following criteria: 

1) The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term. 

2) The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset, and the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option to purchase. 

3) The lease term is for a major part (see Note below) of the remaining economic life of the underlying 

asset, unless the commencement date of the lease falls at or near the end of the underlying asset’s 

economic life. 

 
19 Per ASC 842-10-15-30. 
20 Per ASC 842-10-15-37. 
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4) The present value of the sum of the lease payments (discussed below in the section on Lessee 

accounting for leases) and any residual value guaranteed21 by the lessee not already reflected in the 

lease payments is equal to or greater than substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset. 

Note: The FASB has also stated, in ASC 842-10-55-2, that one reasonable approach to assessing 

items “3” and “4” in the finance lease classification guidelines is use of the following firm guide-

lines, which were used in ASC 840, the former leasing standard, for classifying a lease as what 

was formerly a capital lease. 

• A “major part” of the remaining economic life of the asset means seventy-five percent or 

more. 

• A “commencement date that falls at or near the end of the asset’s economic life” means a 

commencement date that falls within the last 25 percent of the total economic life of the as-

set. 

• “Substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset” means ninety percent or more of 

the asset’s fair value. 

5) The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to 

the lessor at the end of the lease term.22 

When none of the criteria for a finance lease are met, the lessee classifies the lease as an operating lease. 

Lease Recognition by the Lessee 

For a finance lease, the lessee is required to: 

1) Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease23 in the 

lessee’s statement of financial position (balance sheet) at the present value of the lease payments 

not yet paid, discounted at the discount rate for the lease. The discount rate for the lease is the rate 

implicit in the lease (see Note below) if that rate is readily determinable by the lessee. If the rate 

implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate (see 

Note below) as the discount rate for the lease obligation.24 

Note: The rate implicit in the lease is the rate of interest that, for the lessor, causes the ag-

gregate present value of (a) the lease payments and (b) the amount the lessor expects to derive 

from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term to be equal to the sum of (1) the 

fair value of the underlying asset minus any related investment tax credit retained and expected 

to be realized by the lessor and (2) any deferred initial direct costs of the lessor.25  

The rate implicit in the lease is determined by the lessor. 

 

 
21 Per ASC 842-10-20, a guaranteed residual value is a guarantee made by a lessee to the lessor that the value of the 

underlying asset returned to the lessor at the end of the lease will be at least a specified amount. When there is a 
guaranteed residual value, the lessor transfers to the lessee the risk of loss if the value of the underlying asset is less than 
the specified amount. Per ASC 842-10-55-35, if the lessor has the right to require the lessee to purchase the underlying 

asset by the end of the lease term, the stated purchase price is included in the lease payments and that amount is a 
guaranteed residual value.  
22 Per ASC 842-10-25-2. 
23 Per ASC 842-20-25-1. 
24 Per ASC 842-20-30-1 through 30-3. 
25 Per ASC 10-20 (Glossary). 
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Note: The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest the lessee would have to 

pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease pay-

ments in a similar economic environment.26 

 

Note: Initial direct costs are incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if 

the lease had not been obtained.27 Examples of initial direct costs for either a lessee or a lessor 

may include either of the following, per ASC 842-10-30-9: 

• Commissions 

• Payments made to an existing tenant to incentivize that tenant to terminate its lease. 

Per ASC 842-10-30-10, costs that would have been incurred regardless of whether the lease was 

obtained, such as fixed employee salaries, are not initial direct costs. The following are examples 

of costs that are not initial direct costs: 

• General overheads 

• Activities performed by the lessor for advertising, soliciting potential lessees, or servicing ex-

isting leases 

• Costs for activities that occur before the lease is obtained, for example costs of obtaining tax 

or legal advice, negotiating lease terms, or evaluating a prospective lessee’s financial condi-

tion. 

 

The cost of the right-of-use asset consists of: 

• The amount of the initial lease liability. 

• Any payments made to the lessor before the commencement date of the lease. 

• Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.28 

2) Recognize interest expense incurred after the commencement date on the lease liability and 

separately recognize amortization of the right-of-use asset in the lessee’s income statement and 

statement of comprehensive income (income statement).29 

3) Recognize any variable lease payments not included in the lease liability in the period when the 

obligation for those payments is incurred.30 

4) In the statement of cash flows, recognize repayments of the principal portion of the lease liability 

as cash flows from financing activities and payments of interest on the lease liability and any varia-

ble lease payments as cash flows from operating activities. 

For an operating lease, the lessee is required to: 

1) Recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease in the 

lessee’s statement of financial position (balance sheet). The right-of-use asset and the lease liability 

are measured the same way as they are measured for a finance lease.  

2) Recognize a single lease cost after the commencement date, calculated so that the cost of the 

lease is allocated on a generally straight-line basis over the term of the lease.31 

 
26 Per ASC 842-10-20 (Glossary). 
27 Per ASC 842-10-20 (Glossary). 
28 Per ASC 842-20-30-5. 
29 Per ASC 842-20-25-5a. 
30 Per ASC 842-20-25-5b. 
31 Per ASC 842-20-25-6a. 
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3) Recognize any variable lease payments not included in the lease liability in the period when the 

obligation for those payments is incurred.32 

4) Recognize all lease payments as cash flows from operating activities in the statement of cash 

flows. 

Short-term Leases 

For leases having a term of 12 months or less, the lessee may make an accounting policy election, by class 

of underlying asset, not to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities. If a lessee makes such an election, it 

should recognize the lease payments as expenses on a generally straight-line basis over the lease term.33 

However, the lease term used to determine qualification as a short-term lease may be longer than the initial 

lease term. The lease term is defined in the Codification® as: 

The noncancelable period for which a lessee has the right to use an underlying asset, together 

with all of the following: 

• Periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise 

that option 

• Periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to 

exercise that option 

• Periods covered by an option to extend (or not to terminate) the lease in which exercise of the 

option is controlled by the lessor.34 

Therefore, according to the definition of the lease term, if the lease includes an option to extend the 

term of the lease that is reasonably certain of exercise by the lessee or an option to terminate it prior to its 

termination date that is reasonably certain not to be exercised by the lessee, those options are included in 

the lease term used to determine qualification as a short-term lease.  

Example: A one-year lease that includes a renewal option that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise 

cannot qualify as a short-term lease, and the lessee must record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. 

Lessee Accounting for Finance Leases 

The process of accounting for a finance lease by the lessee includes the following five stages: 

1) Determining the amount of the lease liability and the value of the right-of-use asset. 

2) Recording the right-of-use asset and the lease liability. 

3) Amortizing the right-of-use asset. 

4) Recording the lease payments made, the interest expense, and the reduction of the lease liability. 

5) Either: 

• Purchasing the leased asset at the termination of the lease if the lease includes a purchase op-

tion or simply taking possession of the leased asset if the lease provides for transfer to the 

lessee at lease termination, or 

• Returning the asset to the lessor at the termination of the lease. 

 
32 Per ASC 842-20-25-6b. 
33 Per ASC 842-20-25-2. 
34 Per ASC 842-10-20 (Glossary). 
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1)  Determining the Amount of the Lease Liability and the Value of the Right-of-Use Asset 

The first step is to determine the amounts at which the lease liability and the right-of-use asset will be 

recorded in the books of the lessee.  

Determining the Amount of the Lease Liability 

The lessee’s lease liability for a finance lease is the present value of the lease payments not yet paid, 

discounted using the discount rate for the lease.35 The lease payments consist of the following: 

• The annual (or monthly) fixed payments, less any lease incentives paid or payable to the lessee. 

• Variable payments, but only if they are based on an index such as the Consumer Price Index or a 

rate, and initially measured using the index or rate in effect at the commencement date. 

• The exercise price of any option to purchase the underlying asset if the lessee is reasonably certain 

to exercise the option. 

• Payments for penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an 

option to terminate the lease. 

• Fees paid to the owners of a special-purpose entity for structuring the transaction. 

• For the lessee only, amounts probable of being owed by the lessee as a residual value guaran-

tee.36 

Note: A residual value guarantee is a guarantee that the leased asset will have a residual (or salvage) 

value of the guaranteed amount when it is returned at the end of the lease term. The amount of the 

guaranteed residual value included in the calculation of the lease liability is only the amount the lessee 

estimates at the commencement of the lease that it will probably owe at the end of the lease 

term.  

• If it is probable that the expected residual value of the asset at the end of the lease term will exceed 

the guaranteed residual value, the lessee does not include any amount for the residual value guarantee 

in calculating the lessee’s lease liability. 

• If it is probable that the expected residual value will be less than the guaranteed residual value, the 

difference between the guaranteed residual value and the expected residual value is included in 

calculating the lessee’s lease liability. (If at the end of the lease the lessee owes more than the ex-

pected amount, the additional amount owed is expensed at that time.) 

If the lessor can require the lessee to purchase the underlying asset by the end of the lease term, the 

stated purchase price is, in effect, a guaranteed residual value and the stated purchase price is included in 

the lease payments.37 

Variable Lease Payments 

Variable lease payments may be based on an index or rate, such as an escalator based on the Consumer Price 

Index, or they may be based on performance or usage of the asset or any other variable factor or factors 

agreed upon by the lessor and the lessee and included in the lease contract.  

Only variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate are included in the calculation of the lease 

payments that determine the measurement of the lease liability and affect the lease classification, per ASC 

842-10-30-5 and 30-6. The variable lease payments should be included at the level of the index or rate at the 

commencement date of the lease. Any differences in the future payments due caused by changes in the index 

or rate are expensed in the period incurred. 

 
35 Per ASC 842-20-30-1. 
36 Per ASC 842-10-30-5. 
37 Per ASC 842-10-55-35. 
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Variable lease payments not based on an index or rate are excluded from both lease assets and lease 

liabilities. For example, leases at U.S. airport terminals by airlines can vary depending on airport operating 

costs and the airlines’ use of the facilities, and facilities leases by retail establishments may include a variable 

portion based on sales. Such variable lease payments are expensed as incurred as variable lease cost and are 

included in operating activities in the statement of cash flows. 

The Present Value of the Lease Payments 

The present value of the lease payments not yet paid is the sum of the present values of each of the items 

that make up the lease payments, discounted individually using the discount rate for the lease. 

Recall that the discount rate for the lease is the rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily 

determinable by the lessee. The rate implicit in the lease is the discount rate that causes the aggregate 

present value of (a) the lease payments and (b) the amount that a lessor expects to derive from the 

underlying asset following the end of the lease term to be equal to the sum of (1) the fair value of the 

underlying asset minus any related investment tax credit expected to be realized by the lessor and (2) any 

deferred initial direct costs of the lessor.38 

If the rate implicit in the lease is not known to the lessee and cannot be determined, the lessee uses its 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for the lease to calculate the present value of the lease 

payments.39 

Note: The financial strength of the lessee will affect the amount of lease liabilities the company reports. 

The rate implicit in the lease or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate will probably be lower for a 

financially stronger lessee and higher for a financially weaker lessee. 

Since a financially weaker lessee would use a higher discount rate to calculate the present value of its 

lease liabilities, the lease liabilities reported on its balance sheet may be significantly understated in 

comparison with those of a financially stronger lessee. 

On the other hand, the amount expensed for interest on a weaker lessee’s lease liabilities will be greater, 

so a weaker lessee’s reported net income will be lower than that of a financially stronger lessee. 

 

Note: Present value factor tables for a single amount and for an annuity are provided in Appendix A to this 

volume, and factors will be used throughout this discussion to calculate present values. The CPA exam 

provides Microsoft Excel, and candidates can use it during the exam to easily compute present values. 

Candidates are encouraged to familiarize themselves with the use of the appropriate Excel formulas before 

the exam. 

Determining the Value of the Right-of-Use Asset 

The right-of-use asset at the commencement of the lease is measured as the cost of the right-of-use asset to 

the lessee. At the commencement date of the finance lease, the cost of the right-of-use asset consists of all 

of the following: 

• The initial amount of the lease liability as described above. 

• Any lease payments made to the lessor either before the commencement of the lease or at the 

commencement date, less any lease incentives received.  

• Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.40 

 
38 Per ASC 842-10-20 (Glossary). 
39 Per ASC 842-20-30-3. 
40 Per ASC 842-20-30-5. 
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Note: The amount of the right-of-use asset and the amount of the lease liability may be the same, but 

they will not be the same if the lessee has included in its valuation of the right-of-use asset any initial 

direct costs it has incurred or payments made to the lessor before or at the commencement of the lease 

because those items are included in the valuation of the right-of-use asset but not in the valuation of the 

lease liability. 

2)  Recording the Right-of-Use Asset and the Lease Liability 

Once the lessee has determined the amounts at which the lease liability and the right-of-use asset should be 

recorded, the lessee records the following journal entries at the commencement of the lease: 

If the amounts of the lease liability and the right-of-use (ROU) asset are the same, the following journal entry 

will be recorded: 

 Dr Finance lease-ROU assets ........... Calculated value of ROU asset 

  Cr Lease liability ........................... Calculated value of lease liability 

If the value of the right-of-use asset is greater than the value of the lease liability because the lessee paid 

some initial direct costs or made a payment to the lessor prior to or at the commencement of the lease, the 

journal entry will include an additional credit or credits, either to cash (if paid at lease commencement) or to 

some other account if the cash was paid before the commencement of the lease and the opposing debit was 

to some account other than the finance lease-ROU assets account. 

The right-of-use asset is a nonmonetary asset, and the lease liability is a monetary liability. 

The right-of-use asset is a presented as a non-current asset in a classified balance sheet because it will be 

amortized.41 The lease liability should be presented as both current and non-current liabilities in a classified 

balance sheet. Current liabilities are obligations that will be settled through the use of current assets or by the 

creation of other current liabilities. The portion of the lease obligation that will be settled through the use of 

current assets is usually the portion that is expected to be paid within one year. The remainder of the lease 

liability is classified as a non-current liability. 

The difference between the total lease liability amount and the amount the lessee will actually pay in cash 

over the life of the lease will be interest expense incurred over the term of the lease. 

Note: The interest to be paid is not recorded as a liability at the commencement of the lease because at 

that point in time, no interest has yet been incurred. The interest expense will become due and payable as 

time passes. 

Once the lease is recorded on the books, the remaining journal entries will relate to the amortization of the 

right-of-use asset, payment of interest expense, payment of the lease payments, and recognition of the 

decrease in the lease liability as the lease payments are made.  

3)  Amortizing the Right-of-Use Asset 

The right-of-use asset is amortized on the straight-line basis (unless another basis is more representative of 

the pattern of asset’s future economic benefits) from the commencement date of the lease to the earlier of 

the end of the asset’s useful life or the end of the lease term.  

However, if the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee or if the lessee is reasonably certain to 

exercise an option to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term, the lessee amortizes the right-of-use 

asset to the end of the underlying asset’s estimated useful life.42 The result of using an amortization period 

that exceeds the term of the lease will be to have an unamortized balance remaining in the right-of-use asset 

account at the end of the lease term. That unamortized balance will be moved to property, plant, and 

 
41 Entities usually exclude from current assets those assets that are depreciated or amortized. 
42 Per ASC 842-20-35-7 and 35-8. 



Group F. Leases CPA FAR 

68 © 2020 HOCK international, LLC. For personal use only by original purchaser. Resale prohibited. 

equipment at the end of the lease term when the lessee takes possession of the underlying asset and then it 

will be depreciated as a fixed asset. 

Although the FASB has not identified a “right-of-use asset” as either a tangible or an intangible asset, a right-

of-use asset shares more characteristics with an intangible asset than with a tangible, fixed, asset. Therefore, 

as with most intangible assets, usually 100% of the value of the right-of-use asset is amortized, so no 

residual value is deducted from the gross asset balance before calculating the periodic amortization. If the 

lessee becomes the owner of the physical asset at the end of the lease term and moves the unamortized book 

value of the right-of-use asset to property, plant, and equipment and depreciates it going forward, the former 

lessee as owner may assign a residual value to the asset at that time and use it to calculate the fixed asset’s 

depreciation. That situation will be illustrated in the examples that follow. 

Therefore, assuming straight-line amortization is used, the amortization of the right-of-use asset is the initial 

amount of the asset divided by the number of amortization periods. 

Note: An asset acquired under a finance lease should be reviewed for impairment periodically by the 

lessee just as any other asset would be reviewed. Impairment is calculated the same way as it is for 

property, plant, and equipment. An impairment of the right-of-use asset does not affect the balance of the 

lease liability.  

The impairment is recorded by debiting the income statement for the impairment loss and crediting 

accumulated amortization for the right-of-use asset to reduce its book value. After the impaired right-of-

use asset has been written down, the adjusted book value (the original amount of the right-of-use asset 

less the balance attributed to that asset in the accumulated amortization account) becomes its new book 

value. Future amortization is recognized prospectively based on the new net book value and the asset’s 

remaining amortization period. 

4)  Recording the Lease Payments Made, the Interest Expense, and Reduction of the Lease Liability 

At the commencement of the lease, the lessee records a lease liability that represents the present value of 

the amounts that will be paid in the future to the lessor. This liability will be reduced over the life of the lease, 

or “amortized,” as payments are made so that when the last payment is made the lease liability is reduced to 

zero.  

Because the lease liability is the present value of the future lease payments, the lease liability is less than the 

undiscounted sum of all of the lease payments to be made over the life of the lease. The difference between 

the two amounts is the total amount of interest that the lessee will pay over the life of the lease. The interest 

expense will be recognized over the life of the lease. A portion of each lease payment is interest while the 

remainder of each payment is a reduction of the lease liability.  

Note: If the lease contains an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain 

to exercise or contains a guaranteed residual value that the lessee probably will need to pay at the end of 

the lease, the final payment on the lease will include the amount of the purchase price or guaranteed 

residual value owed at the end of the lease. 

The amount of interest expense to be recognized in each period will be calculated in much the same way as 

interest expense is calculated for bonds payable: the interest expense is based on the remaining amount of 

the lease liability outstanding at the beginning of the interest period. The amount of interest expense for each 

period is the outstanding lease liability balance at the beginning of the period multiplied by the discount 

rate for the lease.43  

  

 
43 The discount rate for the lease is the rate implicit in the lease (determined by the lessor) if that rate is readily 

determinable by the lessee. If the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable by the lessee, the discount rate for 
the lease is the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. 
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The interest expense is calculated as follows: 

 Beginning balance of the lease liability at the beginning of the period 

× Discount rate for the lease (an annual rate)  

= Annual interest expense 

Note: The discount rate used in the formula above is an annual rate because most exam questions utilize 

annual lease payments. If the lease payments are to be made more frequently, the annual discount rate 

should be adjusted for the shorter interest period and the calculated interest expense should be for the 

shorter period.  

The portion of the periodic lease payment allocated to interest will decrease each period over the life of the 

lease as the balance of the lease liability decreases. The difference between each cash payment and the 

interest expense for that period is the reduction (or amortization) of the lease liability for that period. 

 Annual lease payment 

− Annual interest expense as calculated above  

= Reduction of the lease liability for the period 

Assuming the lease payments are made on their due dates and the due dates are at the end of each interest 

period, the interest on the lease liability and the reduction of the lease liability are recorded at the end of 

each period when the payment is due and paid. When each cash payment is made, the journal entry to record 

the payment is as follows: 

 Dr Lease liability ......................... liability reduction (as calculated) 

 Dr Interest expense ..................... interest expense (as calculated) 

  Cr Cash ......................................................... lease payment paid 

If the payment is due or will be made after the end of the interest period, the interest expense should be 

accrued at the end of the interest period Interest is accrued by debiting interest expense and crediting the 

lease liability account to increase it by the amount of the accrued interest. 

5a) When the Leased Asset is Purchased by or Transferred to the Lessee at Termination of the Lease 

If the lessee purchases the underlying asset at the lease termination, the final payment will include the 

purchase price that is due. The final payment will reduce the lease liability to zero. 

In addition, the lessee records taking possession of the asset by moving the right-of-use asset’s net book 

value (after the final amortization on the right-of-use asset has been recorded) from the finance lease-ROU 

assets account and accumulated amortization-ROU assets account to property, plant, and equipment as a 

fixed asset.  

The value recorded in property, plant, and equipment for the asset when the lessee takes possession is the 

asset’s net book value as a right-of-use asset at the termination of the lease (not the purchase price in the 

lease). The net book value as a right-of-use asset becomes the gross value of the fixed asset in the 

property, plant, and equipment account. 

The journal entries are: 

 Dr Lease liability ....................................... final liability reduction 

 Dr Interest expense ................................... final interest expense 

 Dr P P & E ................. ROU asset net book value (as gross amount) 

 Dr Accumulated amortization-ROU assets ....... accum. amortization 

  Cr Cash ......................................................... final payment made 

  Cr Finance lease-ROU assets .................. original amount capitalized 

The initial amount of the fixed asset is then accounted for in the same manner as any fixed asset would be 

accounted for. It is depreciated over its remaining useful economic life. If the entity expects the asset to have 



Group F. Leases CPA FAR 

70 © 2020 HOCK international, LLC. For personal use only by original purchaser. Resale prohibited. 

a salvage, or residual, value at the end of its economic life, the salvage value is deducted in calculating the 

periodic depreciation to be taken after the lessee takes possession. If the asset is determined to be impaired 

at some point in the future, the impairment is recorded by crediting the accumulated depreciation account for 

the asset to reduce its net book value. 

Note: If a lease is for land and building, the land component must be separated from the building 

component at the inception of the contract, and the individual components in the lease must be accounted 

for separately.44 If a leased land and building are purchased by or transferred to the lessee at the 

termination of the lease, the lessee will record the land and the building separately as property, plant, and 

equipment on its balance sheet, because as owned assets, the building will be depreciated whereas the 

land will not be depreciated. 

5b. When the Leased Asset is Returned to the Lessor at Termination of the Lease 

If the lease does not provide a purchase option or other transfer of the asset at the termination of the lease, 

the leased asset is returned to the lessor at the termination of the lease.  

When the asset is to be returned to the lessor at the end of the lease, the asset will be expected to have 

some value upon its return to the lessor. That value is called the residual value. The residual value may be 

guaranteed, unguaranteed, or some combination of both. If the residual value is guaranteed by the 

lessee, the lessee guarantees that if the lessor is not able to sell the leased asset for the guaranteed amount, 

the lessee will pay the difference to the lessor. 

• The lessee ignores any unguaranteed residual value, because the lessee is not responsible for it. 

An unguaranteed residual value has meaning to the lessor, but not to the lessee. 

• Any amount of residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is probable of being owed by the 

lessee is included in the lease payments that are used (at their present value) to determine the 

amount of the lease liability. 

When the leased asset is to be returned to the lessor at the end of the lease, the lessee’s right-of-use asset 

will have been fully amortized by the time the lessee makes the final periodic lease payment, and its net book 

value will be zero. The lessee closes out the amount represented by the leased asset in the finance lease-ROU 

assets account against the accumulated amortization-ROU asset account to remove the ROU asset and its 

accumulated amortization from its accounting records. 

The lessee makes the following journal entry (after recording the final amortization amount on the right-of-

use asset) to record the final periodic lease payment and recognize the fact that ownership of the asset has 

been transferred back to the lessor. The final periodic lease payment reduces the lease liability to the amount 

the lessee estimated at the commencement of the lease it would be required to pay for the residual value 

guarantee. 

 Dr Lease liability.......................... remaining lease liability balance 

 Dr Interest expense .................................... final interest expense 

 Dr Accum. amort.-ROU assets ....................... accum. amortization 

  Cr Finance lease-ROU assets .................. original amount capitalized 

  Cr Cash ............................................. final periodic lease payment 

If the lessee owes an amount to the lessor for the residual value guarantee, the lessee debits its lease liability 

account for the amount of the residual value guarantee payment up to the amount remaining in its lease 

liability account. If the lessee owes more than the amount in its lease liability account (the amount it 

expected to have to pay at the commencement of the lease), the lessee records the additional payment as a 

loss. 

  

 
44 Per ASC 842-10-15-29. 
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The journal entry for the lessee’s payment is: 

 Dr Lease liability ................. Amount paid up to amount in account 

 Dr Loss on finance lease-ROU asset ................ additional cash paid 

  Cr Cash ................................................................... Amount paid 

Example #2 that follows illustrates a residual value guarantee where at expiration of the lease, the lessee is 

required to pay more than the amount it had estimated at the commencement of the lease that it would be 

obligated to pay for the guarantee. 

Example #1: Finance Lease With Lessee Purchase at Termination 

Example #1: A finance lease for the lessee with a purchase option. 

Halliday Contracting builds roads and bridges. Halliday leased a new dump truck for its business. 

 Halliday accepts delivery of the truck on January 1, 20X0 and enters into a four-year lease on that 

date. 

 All of the consideration in the lease contract consists of lease components. 

 The fair value of the dump truck is $94,242. 

 An initial payment of $20,000 is required at the commencement of the lease, followed by four annual 

payments of $20,000 each beginning December 31, 20X0. Thus, the term of the lease is four years. 

The lease is nonrenewable. 

 Halliday’s incremental borrowing rate is 5%, and Halliday does not know the rate implicit in the lease 

computed by the lessor. Thus, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is the discount rate for the lease 

used to calculate the present value of the lease payments. 

 The dump truck’s estimated economic life is six years. At the end of six years, the truck’s fair value is 

expected to be $8,000. 

 The lease includes a purchase option at a cost of $2,000. The purchase price is significantly lower than 

the expected fair value of the truck at the expiration of the lease, so the lessee is reasonably certain to 

exercise the option.  

 Halliday exercises the purchase option and purchases the truck at the end of the lease term, December 

31, 20X3. 

The lease is a finance lease because it grants Halliday, the lessee, an option to purchase the underlying 

asset, the dump truck, and Halliday is reasonably certain to exercise the option.  

Although it is necessary for a lease to meet only one of the criteria to be classified as a finance lease, this 

lease also meets the present value test because the present value of the lease payments is equal to 

substantially all of the fair value of the truck. Halliday uses 90% as a guideline. 

 Initial payment at commencement of lease (undiscounted) $20,000 

 Present value of annual payments of $20,000 for four years @ 5%: 

  $20,000 × PV of Annuity @ 5% for 4 years 3.54595 70,919 

 Present value of purchase option that lessee is reasonably certain to 

  exercise: $2,000 × PV of $1 at 5% for four years 0.8227     1,645 

  Present value of the lease payments (98.2% of the fair value) $92,564 
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Step 1: Determining the Amount of the Lease Liability and the Value of the Right-of-Use Asset 

Since Halliday makes an initial payment at the commencement of the lease, the lease liability will be less than 

the right-of-use asset. 

Valuing the Lease Liability 

Halliday’s lease liability is the present value of the lease payments not yet paid using the discount rate for the 

lease. 

The lease payments consist of: 

 Annual lease payment (four payments at December 31, 20X0, 20X1, 20X2, and 20X3) $20,000 

 Exercise price of option to purchase at December 31, 20X3 2,000 

The present value of the four annual lease payments is discounted as the present value of an annuity at 5% 

for four years: 

 $20,000 × 3.54595 =  $70,919 

The present value of the exercise price of the option to purchase is discounted as the present value of an 

amount of $1 at 5% for four years: 

 $2,000 × 0.82270 =  $1,645 

The present value of the lease payments, or the initial value of the lease liability, is $70,919 + $1,645, or 

$72,564. 

Valuing the Right-of-Use Asset 

Halliday values the right-of-use asset initially at the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease 

payments made to the lessor before or at the commencement date of the lease less any incentives received, 

plus any initial direct costs incurred. 

The right-of-use asset is initially valued at: 

 Initial amount of the lease liability $ 72,564 

 Lease payment made to the lessor at the commencement date of the lease   20,000 

 Initial direct costs            0 

  Right-of-use asset $92,564 

Step 2: Recording the Lease Liability and the Right-of-Use Asset 

On the commencement date of the lease, Halliday records the right-of-use asset, the lease liability, and the 

initial payment of $20,000 made to the lessor as follows.  

January 1, 20X0 

 Dr Finance lease-ROU assets ........................................... 92,564 

  Cr Lease liability ............................................................... 72,564 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................... 20,000 

To record the acquisition of the right-of-use asset, the lease liability, and the 

$20,000 initial payment made to the lessor.  

The $20,000 Halliday paid as a down payment is not included in the initial lease liability, because the initial 

lease liability is the present value of the lease payments not yet paid, and the down payment has been paid. 
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Step 3: Amortizing the Right-of-Use Asset 

Because the lease includes a purchase option and the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to 

purchase the dump truck at the end of the lease term, the right-of-use asset is amortized over its estimated 

economic life of six years. The annual straight-line amortization will be one-sixth of $92,564, or $15,427.33. 

Below are the journal entries to record the amortization on the asset for the first two years of the lease. 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Amortization expense ............................................ 15,427.33 

  Cr Accumulated amortization–ROU assets ....................... 15,427.33 

To record amortization over the 6-year life of the asset: $92,564 ÷ 6. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Amortization expense ............................................ 15,427.33 

  Cr Accumulated amortization–ROU assets ....................... 15,427.33 

To record amortization over the 6-year life of the asset: $92,564 ÷ 6. 

The same journal entry is recorded on December 31, 20X2 and December 31, 20X3. 

Step 4: Recording the Lease Payments, the Interest Expense, and Reduction of the Lease Liability 

The first step is to create an amortization schedule for the lease liability. The amortization schedule provides 

the lessee’s annual interest expense and annual amortization of the lease liability. 

Lessee’s Amortization Schedule for Lease Liability for Finance Lease Example #1 

Activity/Dates Cash Paid 

Interest Exp. 

(Previous 

Liability Bal. 

× 5%) 

Amortization 

of Lease 

Liability 

Lease 

Liability 

Balance 

Commencement Jan. 1, 20X0    72,564 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X0 20,000 3,628 (16,372) 56,192 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X1 20,000 2,810 (17,190) 39,002 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X2 20,000 1,950 (18,050) 20,952 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X3 20,000 1,048 (18,952) 2,000 

Purchase Dec. 31, 20X3 2,000  (  2,000) 0 

TOTALS 82,000 9,436 (72,564) ---- 

 

Note that the amount of interest expense decreases each period during the amortization. The interest 

expense decreases because Halliday, the lessee, is paying down the amount of the lease liability, and the 

amount due for interest each year is therefore also lower because the interest is calculated using the 

decreasing lease liability. 

  



Group F. Leases CPA FAR 

74 © 2020 HOCK international, LLC. For personal use only by original purchaser. Resale prohibited. 

Halliday makes the final lease payment and pays the purchase price for the truck on the same date: 

December 31, 20X3, four years following the commencement of the lease. The final periodic lease payment 

and the purchase are shown on separate lines of the amortization schedule because of the separate nature of 

the payments. 

Note: The amortization schedule is always prepared using the interest dates as dictated by the lease 

periods. The interest amount appearing on a given payment line is then apportioned to the appropriate 

accounting period(s). 

 

Exam Tip: The lease liability amortization schedule provides all the information required to record the 

journal entries for the lease payments to be made over the life of the lease as well as to answer any 

question on the exam regarding the lease liability for a finance lease for the lessee. The most common 

questions are: 

1) What is the interest expense for a certain period? 

2) What is the amount of the lease liability at a certain time? 

3) What is the amount that is recorded as a current liability (covered below)? 

The interest on the lease liability is recorded at the end of each reporting period. Since in this example, the 

date the interest expense is incurred and recorded is the same as the date it is paid, the interest does not 

need to be accrued in advance of the payment date.  

If the interest needs to be accrued because it will not be paid until a later accounting period, the amount 

incurred for the current period is accrued as follows: 

 Dr Interest expense ........................................... Interest accrued 

  Cr Lease liability .................................................. Interest accrued 

Halliday’s journal entries for the lease payments made, the interest expense, and the reduction of the lease 

liability for the first two years are as follows: 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Lease liability........................................................ 16,372.00 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 3,628.00 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record payment of the December 31, 20X0 lease payment, interest expense 

for 20X0, and the reduction of the lease liability for 20X0. 

The balance of Halliday’s lease liability at December 31, 20X0 after making the lease payment is $72,564 − 

$16,372, or $56,192. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Lease liability........................................................ 17,190.00 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 2,810.00 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record payment of the December 31, 20X1 lease payment, interest expense 

for 20X1, and the reduction of the lease liability for 20X1. 

The balance of the lease liability at December 31, 20X1 after making the lease payment is $56,192 − 

$17,190, or $39,002. 
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Note: If the payments are scheduled to be made at the beginning of the period following the period in 

which the interest is incurred instead of at the end of the period in which it is incurred, then the interest 

expense will need to be accrued as of the end of the period in which it is incurred by adding it to the lease 

liability.  

For example, if the payment for the interest period that ends December 31, 20X0 is due on January 1, 

20X1, interest expense for the year 20X0 would be accrued on December 31, 20X0 using the following 

journal entry: 

 Dr Interest expense ....................................................... 3,628.00 

  Cr Lease liability ................................................................. 3,628.00 

The journal entry above would increase the balance in the lease liability account as of December 31, 20X0 

by the amount of the 20X0 interest. When the cash payment is made on January 1, 20X1, the journal 

entry would be: 

 Dr Lease liability ......................................................... 20,000.00 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................... 20,000.00 

Amortization of the ROU asset is recorded as time passes and it is not affected by the date the payment is 

made. 

Balance Sheet Presentation by the Lessee – The Current and Non-Current Liabilities 

On Halliday’s balance sheet at the end of each year, the amount presented as current lease liability is only 

the amount by which the lease liability will be reduced in the upcoming year, that is, on December 31 

of the upcoming year. 

In the above example, the December 31, 20X0 balance sheet (following the payment of the first lease 

payment) will present a total lease liability of $56,192. The portion of the total lease liability that is a 

current liability is the amount that will be paid on December 31, 20X1, or $17,190. The remainder, or 

$39,002, will be presented as a non-current liability on the December 31, 20X0 balance sheet. 

Since the lease payment due December 31, 20X0 was paid on that date, Halliday’s December 31, 20X0 

balance sheet will not include any accrued interest for the lease. (However, the December 31, 20X0 income 

statement will include interest expense of $3,628). 

Step 5: Recording the Final Periodic Lease Payment and the Purchase of the Asset 

On the expiration date of the lease, December 31, 20X3, Halliday makes the final periodic lease payment and 

pays the $2,000 purchase price for the dump truck. The purchase price for the truck is not used as the cost 

of the purchased truck. Instead, the purchase price for the truck is recorded as a reduction of the lease 

liability. After the final lease payment and the payment for the truck have been made, the lease liability will 

be zero. 

The unamortized book value of the right-of-use asset (after the December 31, 20X3 amortization of the ROU 

asset has been recorded) is transferred to the property, plant, and equipment account as the gross cost of the 

purchased asset. 

The right-of-use asset is being amortized over its 6-year life, which began at January 1, 20X0. After the 

December 31, 20X3 amortization has been recorded, the net book value of the ROU asset will be: 

 Finance lease – ROU asset $ 92,564.00 

 Accumulated amortization – ROU asset [$15,427.33 × 4]  (61,709.32) 

  Net (unamortized) book value $ 30,854.68 
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The journal entries to record the final lease payment and the purchase of the truck are as follows: 

December 31, 20X3 

 Dr Lease liability [final periodic lease payment] ............. 18,952.00 

 Dr Lease liability [purchase price of ROU asset] ............... 2,000.00 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 1,048.00 

 Dr Property, plant & equipment ................................... 30,854.68 

 Dr Accumulated amortization-ROU assets ..................... 61,709.32 

  Cr Finance lease - ROU assets ....................................... 92,564.00 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 22,000.00 

To record the final periodic lease payment and payment to lessor for purchase of 

the ROU asset and to transfer the net book value of the ROU asset to owned 

equipment. 

Halliday (now the owner of the truck) will depreciate the truck over the remaining two years of its useful 

economic life using straight-line depreciation. Since Halliday anticipates a salvage value of $8,000, the annual 

depreciation recognized will be $11,427.34 ([$30,854.68 − $8,000] ÷ 2).  

Example #2: Finance Lease When Lessee Returns the Asset at Lease Termination 

For the next example, the fair value of the equipment at the commencement of the lease is the same, 

$94,242, but some of the terms of the lease are different: 

• The lease does not transfer ownership of the truck to Halliday by the end of the lease and does not 

grant Halliday an option to purchase it. 

• Halliday guarantees a residual value of $12,000 for the lessor, so Halliday guarantees to the lessor 

that if the lessor is not able to sell the truck for at least $12,000 when it is returned at the end of the 

lease, Halliday will make up the difference. 

• Halliday is required to make a $5,000 initial payment on the lease. The lease is a four-year lease and 

the annual lease payment is $21,759.39. 

Example #2: A finance lease for the lessee in which the asset is returned to the lessor at the 

end of the lease and the lessee guarantees a certain residual value to the lessor. 

Halliday Contracting builds roads and bridges. Halliday leased a new dump truck for its business. 

 Halliday enters into the lease and accepts delivery of the truck on January 1, 20X0. 

 All of the consideration in the lease contract consists of lease components. 

 The fair value of the dump truck is $94,242. 

 The term of the lease is four years, and the lease is nonrenewable.  

 An initial payment of $5,000.00 is to be followed by four annual lease payments of $21,759.39 each 

beginning on December 31, 20X0. 

 The dump truck’s estimated economic life is six years.  

(Continued) 
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 The lease does not transfer ownership to Halliday at the expiration of the lease and does not include a 

purchase option, so the truck will be returned to the lessor at the expiration of the lease. Halliday 

guarantees a residual value of $12,000 for the lessor at the end of the lease on December 31, 20X3. 

Halliday estimates at the commencement of the lease that the salvage value the lessor will be able to 

receive will be $8,000, so Halliday expects to pay $4,000 to make up the residual value guarantee. 

 At the end of the lease term, the lessor informs Halliday that it will be able to sell the returned truck 

for only $7,000, so Halliday will owe $5,000 to the lessor to make up the difference between the 

$12,000 guaranteed residual value and the lessor’s salvage value. Since at the commencement of the 

lease Halliday expected to owe $4,000 on the residual value guarantee, Halliday will need to pay 

$1,000 more than it anticipated. 

 Halliday’s incremental borrowing rate is 5%, and Halliday does not know the implicit rate in the lease 

computed by the lessor. Thus, Halliday’s incremental borrowing rate of 5% is the discount rate for the 

lease used to calculate the present value of the lease payments. 

The lease payments are higher than those in Example #1 because the initial payment is lower ($5,000 

versus $20,000 in Example #1). Even though the residual value the lessor expects to receive at the end of 

the lease is greater ($12,000 versus the $2,000 purchase option in Example #1), the increase in the 

residual value to the lessor is not enough to offset the lower initial payment.  

The lease is a finance lease because the present value of the sum of the lease payments and the residual 

value guaranteed by the lessee is substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset. Halliday uses a 

guideline of 90% or more as “substantially all,” and the present value of the sum of the lease payments 

and the residual value guaranteed by Halliday that Halliday expects to pay is 90.7% of the truck’s fair 

value, as follows: 

Present value of the lease payments:  

 Initial payment on lease (undiscounted) $  5,000.00 

 Annual payments: $21,759.39 × 3.54595 (PV of annuity for 4 years @ 5%) 77,157.71 

 Present value of the portion of the residual value guaranteed 

  by lessee that lessee expects is probable of being owed: 

  $4,000 × 0.8227 (PV of $1 for 4 years @ 5%)    3,290.80 

   Total $85,448.51 

$85,448.51 ÷ $94,242.00 = 0.907.or 90.7%  

Step 1: Determining the Amount of the Lease Liability and the Value of the Right-of-Use Asset 

Valuing the Lease Liability 

For Halliday, the lease payments not yet paid at the commencement of the lease include the four annual fixed 

payments of $21,759.39 each plus the amount of the guaranteed residual value that Halliday estimates it 

probably will owe to make up the difference between the amount Halliday guarantees and the amount the 

lessor can receive from selling the truck. 

The present value of the lease payments is the annual payment multiplied by the present value of an ordinary 

annuity factor for 5% for 4 years, or $21,759.39 × 3.54595 = $77,157.71. 

Halliday estimates at the commencement of the lease that the salvage value the lessor will be able to receive 

by selling the truck will be $8,000, so Halliday expects to pay $4,000 to make up the residual value 

guarantee. The present value of $4,000, discounted at 5% for 4 years is $4,000 × 0.8227, or $3,290.80. 

Thus, Halliday’s lease liability at the commencement of the lease is $77,157.71 + $3,290.80, or 

$80,448.51.45 

 
45 Note that the $5,000 payment Halliday made at the commencement of the lease is not included in the lease liability. It is 

not included in the lease liability because it has already been paid. 
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Valuing the Right-of-Use Asset 

Halliday values the right-of-use asset initially at the initial amount of its lease liability ($80,448.51), plus any 

payments made to the lessor before or at the commencement of the lease ($5,000.00) less any incentives 

received (none), plus any initial direct costs incurred (none). 

Thus, the right-of-use asset is initially valued at $80,448.51 + $5,000.00, or $85,448.51. 

Step 2: Recording the Lease Liability and Right-of-Use Asset 

On the commencement date of the lease, Halliday records the right-of-use asset and the lease liability as 

follows: 

January 1, 20X0 

 Dr Finance lease-ROU assets ...................................... 85,448.51 

  Cr Lease liability .......................................................... 80,448.51 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................ 5,000.00 

To record the acquisition of the right-of-use asset, the lease liability at the pre-

sent value of the lease payments not yet paid, and initial cash paid for the lease.  

Step 3: Amortizing the Right-of-Use Asset 

Because the leased equipment reverts to the lessor at the end of the lease, Halliday will amortize the right-of-

use asset over the 4-year term of the lease. The annual straight-line amortization will be one-fourth of 

$85,448.51, or $21,362.13. 

Below are the journal entries to record the amortization on the asset for the first two years of the lease. 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Amortization expense ............................................ 21,362.13 

  Cr Accumulated amortization-ROU assets ....................... 21,362.13 

To record amortization over the 4-year life of the asset: $85,448.51 ÷ 4. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Amortization expense ............................................ 21,362.13 

  Cr Accumulated amortization-ROU assets ....................... 21,362.13 

To record amortization over the 4-year life of the asset: $85,448.51 ÷ 4. 

The same journal entries are recorded for December 31, 20X2 and 20X3, though the final amortization 

amount on December 31, 20X3 will need to be adjusted for rounding differences to $21,362.12. 
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Step 4: Recording the Lease Payments, the Interest Expense, and Reduction of the Lease Liability 

Lessee’s Amortization Schedule for Finance Lease Example #2 

Activity/Dates Cash Paid  

Interest Exp. 

(Previous 

Liability Bal. 

× 5%) 

Amortization 

of Lease 

Liability 

Lease  

Liability 

Balance 

Commencement Jan. 1, 20X0    80,448.51 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X0 21,759.39 4,022.43 (17,736.96) 62,711.55 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X1 21,759.39 3,135.58 (18,623.81) 44,087.74 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X2 21,759.39 2,204.39 (19,555.00) 24,532.74 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X3 21,759.39 1,226.65* (20,532.74) 4,000.00 

Expected residual val. guar. 

shortfall Dec. 31, 20X3 
4,000.00  (  4,000.00) 0.00 

TOTAL 91,037.56 10,589.05 (80,448.51) ---- 

*Adjusted for rounding differences. 

 

The lessee’s journal entries for the lease payments made and reduction of the lease liability for the first two 

years are as follows: 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Lease liability ........................................................ 17,736.96 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 4,022.43 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 21,759.39 

To record payment of the December 31, 20X0 lease payment, interest expense 

for 20X0, and the reduction of the lease liability for 20X0. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Lease liability ........................................................ 18,623.81 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 3,135.58 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 21,759.39 

To record payment of the December 31, 20X1 lease payment, interest expense 

for 20X1, and the reduction of the lease liability for 20X1. 

The periodic lease payments for December 31, 20X2 and 20X3 are recorded in the same manner. 
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Note: Similar to Example #1, if the payments are scheduled to be made at the beginning of the period 

following the period in which the interest is incurred, then the interest expense is accrued as of the end of 

the period in which it is incurred by adding it to the lease liability. 

For example, if the payment for the interest period that ends December 31, 20X0 is due on January 1, 

20X1, interest expense for the year 20X0 would be accrued on December 31, 20X0 using the following 

journal entry: 

 Dr Interest expense ...................................................... 4,022.43 

  Cr Lease liability ................................................................. 4,022.43 

The journal entry above would increase the balance in the lease liability account as of December 31, 20X0 

by the amount of the 20X0 interest. When the cash payment is made on January 1, 20X1, the journal 

entry would be: 

 Dr Lease liability ......................................................... 21,759.39 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................... 21,759.39 

Step 5: Recording the Final Periodic Lease Payment, the Return of the Asset, and Payment of the 

Residual Value Guarantee 

On the expiration date of the lease, December 31, 20X3, Halliday makes the final periodic lease payment of 

$21,759.39 and returns the truck to the lessor. Halliday records the final periodic lease payment as follows: 

 Dr Lease liability........................................................ 20,532.74 

 Dr Interest expense ..................................................... 1,226.65 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 21,759.39 

To record payment of the December 31, 20X4 lease payment, interest expense 

for 20X4, and reduction of the lease liability for 20X4. 

After the final lease payment has been made, the remaining balance in Halliday’s lease liability account 

represents the $4,000 liability that Halliday estimated at the commencement of the lease that it would be 

responsible for paying on the residual value guarantee. Halliday guaranteed that the lessor would be able to 

sell the returned truck for $12,000. If the lessor is not able to sell the truck for $12,000, Halliday is obligated 

to make up any difference. 

The lessor informs Halliday that it was able to sell the truck for only $7,000, amounting to a $5,000 shortfall 

to be covered by Halliday. Halliday owes $5,000 on the residual value guarantee but has only $4,000 

remaining in its lease liability account to cover the shortfall. Therefore, Halliday will need to expense the 

additional $1,000 payment. Halliday’s journal entry to record the $5,000 paid to fulfill the residual value 

guarantee is as follows: 

 Dr Lease liability............................................................... 4,000 

 Dr Loss on finance lease-ROU asset .................................... 1,000 

  Cr Cash ............................................................................. 5,000 

To record payment of the guaranteed residual value not covered by lessor’s sale 

of the leased asset. 

After Halliday makes the final payment of $5,000 to the lessor, the balance in Halliday’s lease liability account 

will be zero. The balance in Halliday’s right-of-use asset account will also be zero, because the ROU asset will 

have been completely amortized. 
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Lessee Accounting for Operating Leases 

If the lease does not meet any of the criteria for a finance lease, the lessee classifies the lease as an 

operating lease. 

The lessee records a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for an operating lease. The right-of-use asset and 

the lease liability are measured the same way as they are measured for a finance lease. That is: 

The lessee’s lease liability for an operating lease is the present value of the lease payments not yet 

paid, discounted using the discount rate for the lease. The lease payments consist of: 

• The annual (or monthly) fixed payments. 

• Variable payments, but only if they are based on an index such as the Consumer Price Index or a 

rate, and initially measured using the index or rate in effect at the commencement date. 

• Payments for penalties for terminating the lease if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an 

option to terminate the lease. 

• Fees paid to the owners of a special-purpose entity for structuring the transaction. 

• Amounts probable of being owed by the lessee as a residual value guarantee. 

The right-of use asset at the commencement of the lease is the cost of the right-of-use asset. The cost of the 

right-of-use asset includes all of the following: 

• The initial amount of the lease liability as described above. 

• Any lease payments made to the lessor either before the commencement of the lease or at the 

commencement date, less any lease incentives received. 

• Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. 

Although the right-of-use asset and lease liability are calculated the same way as for a finance lease, they are 

amortized differently for an operating lease. They are amortized in such a way that the total cost of the lease 

(consisting of amortization expense and interest expense) recognized as expense will be the same each 

period, generally called straight-line recognition. Furthermore, instead of reporting amortization expense and 

interest expense separately, the total periodic expense of the lease is recognized each period as lease 

expense.  

The lease expense needs to be equal each period during the term of the lease in order to match revenues 

and expenses properly. Take rental of an office as an example—even if the first month is given to the lessee 

rent-free as an inducement to sign the lease, the office is still providing benefit to the lessee during that first 

month. Also, the amount of benefit that is received in the first, free month is the same as the benefit received 

in the second month when rent is being paid. The services provided by the office are not affected by how 

much cash is being paid for rent in a particular month. 

Therefore, the lessee needs to calculate the amount of lease expense that should be recognized each period.  

The total cost of the operating lease is the sum of the lease payments over the term of the lease plus initial 

direct costs incurred by the lessee.  

• The annual lease expense is the sum of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease 

and the initial direct costs divided by the number of years in the lease term.  

• If monthly lease payments are to be made, the monthly lease expense is the sum of the lease 

payments over the term of the lease and the initial direct costs divided by the number of months in 

the lease term. 

Lease Expense per Period = 
Sum of lease payments + Initial direct costs 

Number of periods in the lease 
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The above calculation is necessary whenever the payments during the lease term are not the same for every 

period in the lease term. For example: 

• Initial direct costs are paid by the lessee. 

• The first or last month is given rent free to the lessee. 

• The lessee needs to pay an additional amount upfront as part of the lease agreement. 

• The lease includes a scheduled rent increase that is not dependent upon future events such as 

future sales volumes, future inflation, future property taxes, and so forth.  

Any initial payment or later scheduled increase needs to be, in essence, amortized over the life of the lease 

on a straight-line basis, and the benefit of any “free” months needs to be allocated to all periods. 

Example A: A four-year operating lease requires four annual payments of $50,000 each, to be paid at the 

end of each year, and the lessee incurs $4,000 of initial direct costs, for a total lease cost of $204,000. The 

annual lease expense recognized by the lessee is $204,000 ÷ 4, or $51,000. 

Example B: A four-year operating lease requires five annual payments of $10,000 each, with the first 

payment to be made at the commencement of the lease and four subsequent annual payments to be made 

at the end of each year, for a total lease cost of $50,000. Thus, during the first year of the lease, two 

payments are made: the initial payment at the commencement of the lease and the first subsequent 

payment made at the end of the same year. The annual lease expense recognized by the lessee is $50,000 

÷ 4, or $12,500. 

Example #3 that follows contains an initial lease payment for which the expense is allocated among each of 

the four years of the lease term. 

After determining the periodic lease expense to be recognized, the lessee uses the effective interest method 

to calculate the portion of the payment that is interest for each period and the portion that is amortization of 

the lease liability, similar to the way it is done for a finance lease. The lessee then calculates the amount of 

amortization expense each period for the right-of-use asset as a “plugged” figure that causes the total lease 

expense recognized (interest and amortization of the ROU asset) to equal the straight-line lease expense 

already calculated for the period. The interest and the amortization of the ROU asset expenses are combined 

into one amount that is recognized as lease expense for the period. 

Example #3: An operating lease for the lessee. 

Halliday Contracting builds roads and bridges. Halliday leased a new dump truck for its business. 

 Halliday enters into the lease and accepts delivery of the truck on January 1, 20X0. 

 All of the consideration in the lease contract consists of lease components. 

 The fair value of the dump truck is $94,242. 

 The term of the lease is four years, and the lease is nonrenewable.  

 Halliday makes an initial payment of $12,000 to the lessor at the commencement of the lease on 

January 1, 20X0. Four additional lease payments of $20,000 each are due annually on December 31, 

20X0, 20X1, 20X2, and 20X3. 

 The dump truck’s estimated economic life is 6 years.  

(Continued) 
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 At the end of the lease term, the truck is to be returned to the lessor. Halliday is not obligated for any 

residual value guarantee. 

 Halliday’s incremental borrowing rate is 5%, and Halliday does not know the implicit rate in the lease 

computed by the lessor. Thus, Halliday’s incremental borrowing rate of 5% is the discount rate for the 

lease used to calculate the present value of the lease payments. 

The lease is an operating lease because it does not meet any of the criteria for a finance lease: 

• The lease does not transfer ownership of the truck to Halliday and does not grant Halliday an option to 

purchase the truck. 

• The lease term is not for a major part of the remaining economic life of the truck. The lease term is for 

four years, and the truck’s estimated economic life is six years. Halliday uses the guideline of 75% to 

define “major part,” and the lease is 67% of the truck’s economic life. 

• The present value of the sum of the lease payments is less than substantially all of the fair value of the 

truck, as follows: 

 Initial lease payment at the commencement of the lease (undiscounted) $12,000 

 Present value of four $20,000 annual payments, discounted at 5%: 

  $20,000 × 3.54595   70,919 

  Total $82,919 

 Halliday uses a guideline of 90% of the fair value of the underlying asset as “substantially all” of the 

fair value of the underlying asset. $82,919 is 88% of the truck’s fair value of $94,242. 

• The underlying asset, the dump truck, is not of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no 

alternative use at the end of the lease term. 

Step 1: Determining the Amount of the Lease Liability and the Value of the Right-of-Use Asset 

Valuing the Lease Liability 

For Halliday, the lease payments not yet paid include four annual fixed payments of $20,000 each (the first 

payment of $12,000 is made at the commencement of the lease). 

The present value of the lease payments not yet paid is the annual payment multiplied by the present value 

of an ordinary annuity factor for 5% for 4 years, or $20,000 × 3.54595 = $70,919. 

Thus, Halliday’s lease liability at the commencement of the lease is $70,919. 

Valuing the Right-of-Use Asset 

Halliday values the right-of-use asset initially at the initial amount of its lease liability plus any lease 

payments made to the lessor before or at the commencement of the lease less any incentives received, plus 

any initial direct costs incurred. 

Thus, the right-of-use asset is initially valued at $70,919 + $12,000, or $82,919. 
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Step 2: Recording the Lease Liability and Right-of-Use Asset 

On the commencement date of the lease, Halliday records the operating lease right-of-use asset, the lease 

liability, and the initial payment of $12,000 as follows: 

January 1, 20X0 

 Dr Operating lease-ROU assets ........................................ 82,919 

  Cr Lease liability ............................................................... 70,919 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................... 12,000 

To record the acquisition of the right-of-use asset, the lease liability at the pre-

sent value of the lease payments not yet paid, and the initial cash payment. 

Step 3: Calculating the Total Periodic Lease Cost 

The total cost of the lease is $20,000 × 4 payments plus the initial payment of $12,000, or $92,000. The 

periodic (annual, in this case) cost is $92,000 divided by the four-year term of the lease, or $23,000 per year. 

Lease expense of $23,000 per year will be recognized. 

Step 4: Recording the Lease Payments, the Periodic Lease Cost, Reduction (Amortization) of the 

Right-of-Use Asset, and Reduction of the Lease Liability 

Lessee’s Amortization Schedule for Operating Lease Liability Example #3 

Activity/Dates Cash Paid  

Interest Exp. 

(Previous 

Liability Bal. 

× 5%) 

Reduction of 

Lease 

Liability 

Lease  

Liability 

Balance 

Commencement Jan. 1, 20X0    70,919.00 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X0 20,000.00 3,545.95 (16,454.05) 54,464.95 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X1 20,000.00 2,723.25 (17,276.75) 37,188.20 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X2 20,000.00 1,859.41 (18,140.59) 19,047.61 

Payment Dec. 31, 20X3 20,000.00 952.39* (19,047.61) 0.00 

TOTAL 80,000.00 9,081.00 (70,919.00) ---- 

*Adjusted for rounding differences. 
 

The lease expense for each year is $23,000.00. The annual amortization (reduction) of the right-of-use asset 

is the difference between the annual lease expense and the interest expense for the year as calculated in 

the amortization schedule above. The reduction of the lease liability for each payment made is also from the 

amortization schedule. It is the difference between the cash payment made and the interest expense. 

Following is the schedule for subsequent measurement of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability. 
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Lessee’s Amortization Schedule for the Right-of-Use Asset in Operating Lease Example #3, Including Reduction of 

Lease Liability (From the Operating Lease Liability Schedule above) 

Dates 

(A) 

Tot. Lease 

Expense  

Recog-

nized 

(B) 

 

 

Interest Exp.  

(A − B) 

 

Amortization 

of ROU Asset 

Reduction of 

Lease Liab.  

(from Liab. 

Schedule) 

Dec. 31, 20X0 23,000.00 3,545.95 19,454.05 16,454.05 

Dec. 31, 20X1 23,000.00 2,723.25 20,276.75 17,276.75 

Dec. 31, 20X2 23,000.00 1,859.41 21,140.59 18,140.59 

Dec. 31, 20X3 23,000.00 952.39 22,047.61 19,047.61 

TOTAL 92,000.00 9,081.00 82,919.00 70,919.00 

 

The journal entries are as follows: 

December 31, 20X0: 

 Dr Lease expense ...................................................... 23,000.00 

 Dr Lease liability ........................................................ 16,454.05 

  Cr Operating lease - right-of-use assets ......................... 19,454.05 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record lease payment made, lease expense, ROU asset amortization, and lease 

liability reduction for 20X0. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Lease expense ...................................................... 23,000.00 

 Dr Lease liability ........................................................ 17,276.75 

  Cr Operating lease - right-of-use assets ......................... 20,276.75 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record lease payment made, lease expense, ROU asset amortization, and lease 

liability reduction for 20X1. 

December 31, 20X2 

 Dr Lease expense ...................................................... 23,000.00 

 Dr Lease liability ........................................................ 18,140.59 

  Cr Operating lease – right-of-use assets ......................... 21,140.59 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record lease payment made, lease expense, ROU asset amortization, and lease 

liability reduction for 20X2. 
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December 31, 20X3 

 Dr Lease expense ...................................................... 23,000.00 

 Dr Lease liability........................................................ 19,047.61 

  Cr Operating lease – right-of-use assets ......................... 22,047.61 

  Cr Cash ...................................................................... 20,000.00 

To record lease payment made, lease expense, ROU asset amortization, and lease 

liability reduction for 20X3. 

As of December 31, 20X3, the term of the operating lease is concluded and Halliday returns the truck to the 

lessor. The balances in the right-of-use asset account and the lease liability account are both zero. 

Note that lease amortization expense and interest expense are not recognized separately with an operating 

lease. The amount expensed is a combination of both the amortization expense and the interest expense, and 

it is reported as straight-line lease expense. The amortization of the right-of-use asset for each year has been 

calculated as the total lease expense for the year ($23,000.00) less the interest expense for that year, so that 

the total lease expense recognized will be $23,000.00 each year during the term of the lease. 

Note: If the payments are scheduled to be made at the beginning of the period following the period in 

which the lessee receives benefit from the lease, then the lease expense is accrued as of the end of the 

period in which the benefit is received. The full lease payment amount is debited to lease expense. The 

amount of the lease payment attributable to interest is credited to the lease liability account to increase its 

balance as of the same date, and the amount attributable to amortization of the ROU asset is credited to 

the operating lease – right-of-use assets account to reduce it. 

For example, if the payment for the period ending December 31, 20X0 is due on January 1, 20X1, on 

December 31, 20X0, lease expense for the year 20X0 would be accrued, the lease liability account would 

be increased by the amount of the interest for 20X0, and amortization of the right-of-use asset for 20X0 

would be recognized.  

Following is the journal entry for December 31, 20X0: 

 Dr Lease expense ........................................................ 23,000.00 

  Cr Operating lease – right-of-use assets ........................... 19,454.05 

  Cr Lease liability .............................................................. 3,545.95 

On January 1, 20X1 when the lease payment is made, the journal entry would be: 

 Dr Lease liability ......................................................... 20,000.00 

  Cr Cash ........................................................................ 20,000.00 

Leasehold Improvements in Finance and Operating Leases 

Leasehold improvements result when tangible enhancements are made to a right-of-use asset and paid for by 

the lessee. The lessee capitalizes the cost of the leasehold improvements as an intangible asset. 

The lessee amortizes the leasehold improvements over the shorter of (a) the useful life of the leasehold 

improvements and (b) the remaining lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset 

to the lessee or the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset. If the 

lease transfers ownership to the lessee or the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the 

lessee amortizes the leasehold improvements to the end of their useful life.46 

  

 
46 Per ASC 842-20-35-12. 
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Accounting for Leases by the Lessor 

Lessors classify leases as one of three types: sales-type leases, direct financing leases, and operating 

leases. Although the guidance for the new leasing standard states that lessor accounting was not 

fundamentally changed, an important change was made in the way lessors classify leases. 

Note: Under the previous standard, in ASC 840, a sales-type lease involved the sale and financing of the 

asset by the same entity, usually a manufacturer or dealer who sold the asset to the lessee and provided 

the lease financing. A sales-type lease involved the lessor recognizing selling profit on the sale as well as 

interest and fee income from financing it. Under ASC 840, if a lease did not involve the lessor recognizing 

selling profit on the sale, the lease could not be classified as a sales-type lease. 

Under the previous guidance, a direct financing lease also involved the lessor providing lease financing, but 

a direct financing lease did not involve the lessor recognizing selling profit on the sale. Under ASC 840, a 

lease that involved selling profit for the lessor could not be classified as a direct financing lease. 

Thus, under the previous guidance, a direct financing lease was a lease in which a financial institution such 

as a bank or a leasing company acted in a third-party capacity to finance the asset. The lessor would 

purchase the asset and lease it to the lessee. The lessor’s revenue from a direct financing lease consisted 

only of interest income and fee income. 

That all changed with ASC 842. 

The new leasing standard has retained the terms “sales-type lease,” “direct financing lease,” and “operating 

lease” from the former standard, but the criteria for classifying leases in each of those classifications 

have changed.  

Lease Classification for the Lessor 

Sales-Type Leases for the Lessor 

The lessor for a lease classified as a sales-type lease may be a manufacturer or dealer that is acting in a 

selling capacity and also in a financing capacity. However, the lessor for a lease classified as a sales-type 

lease need not be a manufacturer or a dealer. It may be a financial institution that is providing 

financing only and is not acting in a selling capacity. 

For the lessor, a sales-type lease is one that meets one or more of the following criteria, and the criteria 

are the same as those used by lessees for finance leases: 

1) The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term. 

2) The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset, and the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option to purchase. 

3) The lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset, unless the 

commencement date of the lease falls at or near the end of the underlying asset’s economic life. 

4) The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the 

lessee not already reflected in the lease payments is equal to or greater than substantially all of the 

fair value of the underlying asset. 
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Note: Definitions of “fair value of the underlying asset” for the lessor: 

1) If the lessor is a manufacturer or a dealer, the “fair value of the underlying asset” is the 

price that would be received to sell the underlying asset in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date.  

2) If the lessor is not a manufacturer or a dealer—usually a financial institution providing 

financing—the “fair value of the underlying asset” at the lease commencement is the lessor’s 

cost for the underlying asset, reflecting any volume or trade discounts that may apply. For 

such a lessor, “fair value of the underlying asset” normally would include acquisition costs 

such as sales taxes and delivery charges paid. 

 However, if there has been a significant lapse of time between the acquisition of the underly-

ing asset and commencement of the lease, the “fair value of the underlying asset” is the exit 

price as defined in Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, that is, the price that would be re-

ceived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability.47 

5) The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to 

the lessor at the end of the lease term.48 

Operating Leases and Direct Financing Leases for the Lessor 

If a lease does not meet any of the criteria for a sales-type lease, it is classified by the lessor as either an 

operating lease or a direct financing lease.  

If the lease does not qualify as a sales-type lease and both of the following criteria are met, the lessor 

classifies the lease as a direct financing lease.  

If the lease does not qualify as a sales-type lease and both of the following criteria are not met, then the 

lease is classified as an operating lease. 

1) The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any guaranteed residual value not already 

reflected in the lease payments that is guaranteed by the lessee and/or by a third party unre-

lated to the lessor equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset, and 

2) It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments and any amount necessary to satisfy a 

residual value guarantee. 

The criterion relating to the present value of the lease payments and the guaranteed residual value for a 

direct financing lease means that a direct financing lease exists when: 

1) Without the third-party guarantee of the residual value, the present value of the sum of the lease 

payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee would not be equal to or greater than 

substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset (because if it were, the lease would be a 

sales-type lease).  

2) However, with the third-party guarantee, the sum of the lease payments and the residual value 

guarantee is equal to or greater than the fair value of the underlying asset. 

  

 
47 Per ASC 842-30-55-17A. 
48 Per ASC 842-10-25-2. 
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The following are important points about direct financing leases: 

• A direct financing lease is distinguished by a guarantee of the residual value made at least in part by 

an unrelated third party that causes the present value of the sum of the lease payments and the 

residual value guarantee to be equal to or greater than the fair value of the underlying asset, where-

as without the third-party guarantee, that would not be the case. 

• The involvement of the third party means that control of the asset has not been turned over to the 

lessee alone but rather to the lessee and to the third-party guarantor. 

• In a direct financing lease, the lessor’s risk is limited to credit risk (that is, risk that the lessee will 

not pay), since a third party guarantees the residual value of the leased asset.  

If a lease qualifies as a direct financing lease under the guidance in ASC 842, the lessor may have a selling 

profit, but the selling profit must be deferred and recognized over the life of the lease (though selling 

losses at the commencement of the lease are recognized immediately).49 Since the lessor’s risk is only credit 

risk with a direct financing lease, the position of the FASB is that the lessor should not be permitted to 

recognize selling profit on the lease at its commencement. 

Similarly, if the lessor has initial direct costs for a direct financing lease, the initial direct costs are also 

deferred and recognized over the life of the lease. 

Both the deferred selling profit and the deferred initial direct costs are included in the measurement of the net 

investment in the lease. 

Note: Under the new guidance, most leases other than operating leases are classified by the lessor as 

sales-type leases, even leases in which the lessor is a financial institution and the lessor purchases 

the asset to lease it to the lessee (leases that would have been classified as direct financing leases under 

the former guidance in ASC 840). 

Therefore, most leases that the lessor would formerly have classified as direct financing leases 

are now classified by the lessor as sales-type leases, even when no selling profit for the lessor is 

involved. 

  

 
49 Per ASC 842-30-25-8. 
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Lessor Accounting for a Sales-Type Lease 

Note: Because leasing is a revenue-generating activity for lessors, the guidance in Topic 842 is aligned 

with the guidance in Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as follows:  

• Under Topic 606, control of the asset must be transferred to the customer in order for revenue to be 

recognized. Therefore, whether or not a lease is similar to a sale of the underlying asset depends on 

whether the lessee obtains control of the underlying asset as a result of the lease. A lease that meets 

any of the criteria for a sales-type lease effectively transfers control of the underlying asset to the 

lessee. Thus, if the lease qualifies as a sales-type lease, the lessor is not precluded from recognizing 

sales revenue or selling profit at the lease commencement. 

• Under Topic 606, a company can recognize revenue under a contract only when it is probable that it will 

be able to collect substantially all of the consideration it is entitled to receive for the goods or services 

transferred to the customer under the contract.50  

 Probability of collection is not required in order for a lessor to classify a lease as a sales-type lease. 

However, if collectibility of the lease payments and any guaranteed residual value is not probable for 

a lease classified as a sales-type lease, any payments received from the lessee must be classified 

as contract liabilities and the underlying asset is not to be de-recognized until collectibility of the 

remaining amounts becomes probable.51 

At the commencement date of a sales-type lease, the lessor: 

1) De-recognizes the underlying asset 

2) Recognizes selling profit or loss arising from the lease 

3) Recognizes the net investment in the lease as an asset 

4) Recognizes initial direct costs as expenses if, at the commencement date, the fair value of the 

underlying asset is different from its carrying amount.52 

The net investment in the lease for a sales-type lease includes: 

• The lease receivable, or the present value, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease, of (1) 

the lease payments not yet received by the lessor, and (2) the amount the lessor expects to receive 

from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is guaranteed by the lessee or 

any other third party unrelated to the lessor. 

• The unguaranteed residual asset at the present value of the amount the lessor expects to receive 

from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed by the lessee or 

any other third party unrelated to the lessor, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease.53 

Under certain conditions (discussed later), initial direct costs incurred by the lessor in a sales-type lease are 

included in the calculation of the net investment in the lease, as well. 

Note: The measurement of the net investment in the lease is different for a sales-type lease than it is for 

a direct financing lease. The measurement of the net investment in the lease for a direct financing lease 

will be given in the discussion of direct financing leases that follows. 

  

 
50 Per ASC 606-10-25-1. 
51 Per ASC 842-30-25-3. 
52 Per ASC 842-30-25-1. 
53 Per ASC 842-30-30-1. 
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After the commencement date of the lease, the lessor in a sales-type lease recognizes: 

1) Interest income on the net investment in the lease using the effective interest method 

2) Variable lease payments not included in the net investment in the lease are recognized as income 

when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur 

After the commencement date, the lessor measures the net investment in the lease by: 

1) Increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest income on the net investment in the lease 

2) Reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments collected during the period.54 

The rate implicit in the lease is the rate of interest that causes the aggregate present value of (a) the lease 

payments and (b) the amount the lessor expects to derive  from the underlying asset following the end of the 

lease term to be equal to the sum of (1) the fair value of the underlying asset minus any related investment 

tax credit retained and expected to be realized by the lessor and (2) any deferred initial direct costs of the 

lessor.55  

Treatment of Initial Direct Costs by the Lessor in a Sales-Type Lease 

1) If the fair value of the underlying asset is different from its carrying amount on the lessor’s books 

at the commencement of the lease (that is, if the lessor recognizes selling profit on the lease), the 

lessor in a sales-type lease recognizes its initial direct costs as expenses at the commencement date. 

2) If the fair value of the underlying asset is the same as its carrying amount on the lessor’s books at 

the commencement of the lease (that is, if the lessor does not recognize any selling profit on the 

lease), the lessor in a sales-type lease defers the initial direct costs of the lease and includes them 

in the net investment in the lease.56  

Note: The fair value of the underlying asset will be different from its carrying amount on the lessor’s 

books when the lessor recognizes selling profit from the sale of the underlying asset, as would be the case 

when the lessor is a dealer or manufacturer and the lessor is selling the asset to the lessee at a profit as 

well as financing it for the lessee. The lessor will recognize any initial direct costs as expenses. 

The fair value of the underlying asset will be equal to its carrying amount on the lessor’s books when the 

lessor is a financial institution that is providing financing for the asset and will not recognize any selling 

profit on the transaction. The lessor will defer any initial direct costs and will include them in the net 

investment in the lease. 

Both leases are classified as sales-type leases under ASC 842 if they meet one or more of the criteria for 

sales-type leases. 

Treatment of Variable Lease Payments 

Variable lease payments may be based on an index or rate, such as an escalator based on the Consumer Price 

Index, or they may be based on performance or usage of the asset. Only variable lease payments that are 

based on an index or a rate are included in the calculation of the lease payments that determines the 

measurement of the lease receivable and the net investment in the lease for the lessor. The variable lease 

payments should be included at the level of the index or rate at the commencement date of the lease. Any 

differences in the future payments due that are caused by changes in the index or rate are recognized by the 

lessor as income in the period when the index or rate changes. 

Additionally, variable lease payments not included in the net investment in the lease (that is, those based on 

performance or usage of the asset) are recognized as income by the lessor when changes in facts and 

circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur. 

 
54 Per ASC 842-30-35-1. 
55 Per ASC 10-20 (Glossary). 
56 Per ASC 842-30-25-1c. 



Group F. Leases CPA FAR 

92 © 2020 HOCK international, LLC. For personal use only by original purchaser. Resale prohibited. 

Example – Lessor Accounting for a Sales-Type Lease 

Example #4: A sales-type lease in which the asset is returned to the lessor at the end of the 

lease and the lessee guarantees a residual value of $12,000. 

 The lease is for a dump truck. The lessee is Halliday Contracting. 

 The term of the lease is four years. An initial payment of $5,000 is to be made by the lessee at the 

commencement of the lease on January 1, 20X0, followed by four annual lease payments of 

$21,759.39 beginning on December 31, 20X0.  

 The normal selling price of the dump truck is $94,242. 

 The lessor’s interest rate implicit in the lease is 4%. 

 The truck’s estimated economic life is six years. 

 At the end of the lease the truck is to be returned to the lessor.  

 The lessee guarantees a residual value of $12,000. 

 The lessor does not anticipate receiving more than $12,000 for the returned truck at the end of the 

lease, so there is no unguaranteed residual asset value. 

 The lessor has no initial direct costs. 

 The lessor is a dealer, and the lessor’s inventory cost for the truck is $70,000. 

 It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments and the residual value amount that is 

guaranteed. 

 

Note: The lessor in the above example has no direct costs, but if the lessor did have direct costs, the costs 

would be expensed in the same period as the selling profit from the sale of the asset is recognized because 

the fair value of the underlying asset ($94,242) is different from its carrying amount on the lessor’s books 

($70,000) and the lessor will recognize selling profit on the transaction. 

Step 1: Classification of the Lease 

To review, a sales-type lease is one that meets one or more of the following criteria: 

1) The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term. 

2) The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset, and the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option to purchase. 

3) The lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset, unless the 

commencement date of the lease falls at or near the end of the underlying asset’s economic life. 

4) The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the 

lessee not already reflected in the lease payments is equal to or greater than substantially all of the 

fair value of the underlying asset. 

5) The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to 

the lessor at the end of the lease term. 
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The lease in the example meets the criteria for a sales-type lease because the present value of the sum of the 

lease payments and the residual value guaranteed by the lessee, discounted at the lessor’s rate implicit in the 

lease, is equal to substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset, as follows: 

 Initial payment received (undiscounted) $  5,000.00 

 Present value of lease payments not yet received: 

  $21,759.39 × 3.6299 (PV of annuity of 4 years @ 4%)  78,984.41 

 Present value of lessee-guaranteed residual value: 

  $12,000 × 0.8548 (PV of $1 for 4 years @ 4%)  10,257.60 

   Total present value $94,242.01 

 

The present value of the sum of the lease payments and the lessee-guaranteed residual value is equal to 

$94,242, the fair value of the truck (the difference is only a rounding difference). 

Step 2: Calculate the Lease Payment 

The amount to be recovered by the lessor through the lease payments is the fair value of the leased asset, 

less the present value of the lessee-guaranteed residual asset, less the present value of any unguaranteed 

residual asset, less the lessee’s initial payment, as follows: 

 Fair value of leased equipment $94,242.00 

 Less: Present value of the lessee-guaranteed residual value 

  ($12,000 × 0.8548 (PV4%, 4 years) 10,257.60 

 Less:  Present value of unguaranteed residual value 0.00 

 Less:  Initial payment made by lessee    5,000.00 

  Amount to be recovered by lessor through subsequent lease payments $78,984.40 

The annual lease payment is equal to $78,984.40 divided by the present value of an annuity for 4 years at 

4%, which is 3.6299: 

Annual Lease Payment = 
$78,984.40 

= $21,759.39 
3.6299 

 

Step 3: Calculate the Net Investment in the Lease 

The net investment in the lease for a sales-type lease is both of the following: 

1) The lease receivable, which is the present value, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease, of 

the lease payments not yet received by the lessor and the amount the lessor expects to derive from 

the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is guaranteed, and 

2) The unguaranteed residual asset, which is the present value of the amount the lessor expects to 

derive from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed, dis-

counted using the rate implicit in the lease. 

The lessor’s net investment in the lease is: 

 Present value of lease payments not yet received ($21,759.39 × 3.6299) $  78,984.41 

 Plus: Present value of guaranteed residual value ($12,000 × 0.8548)    10,257.60 

  Lease receivable $89,242.01 

 Plus: Present value of unguaranteed residual asset            0.00 

  Net investment in the lease $89,242.01 
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Note the difference between the lease receivable and the net investment in the lease for a sales-type 

lease:  

• The lease receivable is the sum of the present value of the lease payments not yet received and the 

present value of the guaranteed residual value (the first two items above), that is, the amounts re-

ceivable from the lessee.  

• For a sales-type lease, the net investment in the lease is the lease receivable plus the present 

value of the unguaranteed residual value (if any). 

Step 4: Determine the Revenue, Cost of Goods Sold, and Selling Profit 

For a sales-type lease: 

Revenue = The fair value of the underlying asset or the sum of (1) the lease receivable and (2) 

any lease payments prepaid by the lessee, whichever is less. 

 The fair value of the underlying asset is $94,242.00. The sum of the lease receivable 

and the initial lease payment is $89,242.01 + $5,000.00, or $94,242.01.  

 Sales revenue = $94,242.00 

Cost of goods sold = The carrying amount of the underlying asset minus the present value of any 

unguaranteed residual asset, which is the amount a lessor expects to derive from the 

underlying asset at the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed, measured on a 

discounted basis. 

 Cost of goods sold = $70,000.00 − $0.00 = $70,000 

Thus, the selling profit on a sales-type lease is: 

The fair value of the underlying asset or the sum of (a) the lease receivable and (b) any lease 

payments prepaid by the lessee, if lower than the fair value; minus 

The carrying amount of the underlying asset net of the present value of any unguaranteed 

residual asset. 

The selling profit on this lease is: 

 Fair value of underlying asset $  94,242.00 

 Less: Carrying value of asset net of the present value of any  

  unguaranteed residual asset value     70,000.00 

  Selling profit $24,242.00 

Step 5: Record the Lease Receivable, Sales Revenue, Cost of Goods Sold, Initial Cash Payment 

Received, and the Removal of the Asset from Inventory 

At the commencement of the lease, the lessor records the lease receivable, cost of goods sold, sales revenue, 

initial cash payment received, and removes the leased asset from inventory as follows: 

January 1, 20X0 

 Dr Lease receivable ................................................... 89,242.00 

 Dr Cost of goods sold ................................................. 70,000.00 

 Dr Cash ...................................................................... 5,000.00 

  Cr Sales revenue ......................................................... 94,242.00 

  Cr Inventory ............................................................... 70,000.00 

To record the lease receivable, sales revenue, cost of goods sold, initial cash 

payment received, and the removal of the asset from lessor’s books.  
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The lessor reports a selling profit of $24,242.00 (sales revenue minus cost of goods sold). 

If the lessor had paid any initial direct costs, the expense would be recognized at this time as a current 

expense because the lessor is reporting selling profit on the transaction. 

Step 6: Prepare the Lease Amortization Schedule 

Lessor’s Amortization Schedule – Sales-Type Lease With Asset Reverting to the Lessor 

Activity/Dates 

Cash 

Received  

Interest Inc. 

(Prev. Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

 × 4%) 

Reduction 

of Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

Commencement Jan. 1, 20X0    89,242.00 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X0 21,759.39 3,569.68 (18,189.71) 71,052.29 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X1 21,759.39 2,842.09 (18,917.30) 52,134.99 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X2 21,759.39 2,085.40 (19,673.99) 32,461.00 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X3 21,759.39 1,298.39* (20,461.00) 12,000.00 

Guaranteed residual value  

Dec. 31, 20X3 
12,000.00 0.00 (12,000.00) 0.00 

TOTAL 99,037.56 9,795.56 89,242.00 ---- 

* Adjusted for rounding difference. 

Step 7: Record the Payments Received Subsequent to the Commencement of the Lease and the 

Interest Accrued 

The initial payment received from the lessee ($5,000) is not included in the payments received and recorded 

subsequent to the commencement of the lease, since it was received and recorded at the commencement of 

the lease (in Step 5). The first two payments received are recorded as follows: 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

  Cr Net investment in lease ............................................ 18,189.71 

  Cr Interest income – lease .............................................. 3,569.68 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X0. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

  Cr Net investment in lease ............................................ 18,917.30 

  Cr Interest income – lease .............................................. 2,842.09 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X1. 

The periodic lease payments received in 20X2 and 20X3 are recorded in the same manner. 
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Note: If the payments are scheduled to be received at the beginning of the period following the period in 

which the interest is earned, then the lessor accrues the interest income as of the end of the period in 

which it is earned. 

For example, if the payment for the period ending December 31, 20X0 is due on January 1, 20X1, the 

lessor would accrue interest income for the year 20X0 on December 31, 20X0 as an addition to the net 

investment in the lease using the following journal entry: 

 Dr Net investment in lease ............................................. 3,569.68 

  Cr Interest income .............................................................. 3,569.68 

The journal entry above would increase the balance in the net investment in lease account as of December 

31 by the amount of the 20X0 interest. When the cash payment is received on January 1, 20X1, the 

journal entry would be: 

 Dr Cash  .................................................................... 21,759.39 

  Cr Net investment in lease ................................................. 21,759.39 

Asset is Returned to Lessor at the End of the Lease and Lessor Sells the Asset and Receives the Remaining 

Residual Value Guarantee from Lessee 

On December 31, 20X3, the lease reaches its expiration date. After the lessee makes the final lease payment 

to the lessor, the lessor’s net investment in the lease has a balance of $12,000, the guaranteed residual value 

of the truck. The lessor receives the truck back from Halliday, the lessee. The lessor reclassifies the $12,000 

remaining in the net investment in the lease as equipment: 

 Dr Equipment ................................................................ 12,000 

  Cr Net investment in lease ................................................ 12,000 

To reclassify remaining net investment in lease as equipment returned. 

The lessor sells the equipment for $7,000 and records a receivable from Halliday for the remaining 

guaranteed residual asset: 

 Dr Cash ........................................................................... 7,000 

 Dr Receivable from lessee – residual value guarantee ........... 5,000 

  Cr Equipment ................................................................... 12,000 

To record the receipt of proceeds of sale of the leased asset and receivable from 

lessee. 

The lessor informs Halliday that it owes $5,000 on its guarantee of the residual value of the asset. When 

Halliday pays, the lessor records the receipt as follows: 

 Dr Cash ........................................................................... 5,000 

  Cr Receivable from lessee – residual value guarantee ............. 5,000 

To record the receipt of the guaranteed residual balance from the lessee. 

Collectibility 

If collectibility of the lease payments and any guaranteed residual value is not probable for a lease 

classified as a sales-type lease, any payments received from the lessee must be classified as a contract 

liability, and the underlying asset is not de-recognized until collectibility of the remaining amounts becomes 

probable. 
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Lessor Accounting for a Direct Financing Lease 

If a lease does not meet any of the criteria for a sales-type lease, it is classified by the lessor as either an 

operating lease or a direct financing lease.  

To review, the criteria for a sales-type lease are as follows: 

1) The lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term. 

2) The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset, and the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise the option to purchase. 

3) The lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset, unless the 

commencement date of the lease falls at or near the end of the underlying asset’s economic life. 

4) The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee 

not already reflected in the lease payments is equal to or greater than substantially all of the fair 

value of the underlying asset. 

5) The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to 

the lessor at the end of the lease term. 

Most leases that do not meet one or more of the criteria above for sales-type leases are classified by the 

lessor as operating leases. When a lease does not meet at least one of the sales-type lease criteria, it is 

classified as a direct financing lease rather than an operating lease in only one limited situation: 

• A residual value guarantee is provided by a third-party guarantor not related to the lessor, and 

• The present value of the sum of the lease payments and the residual value guaranteed by the lessee 

and any other third party unrelated to the lessor is equal to or greater than substantially all of 

the fair value of the underlying asset, and 

• It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments and the amount necessary to satisfy the 

residual value guarantee. 

Because the lessee does not provide the full residual value guarantee, the FASB determined that the lessor 

still retains some control over the asset until all residual value guarantees are satisfied. Thus, consistent with 

Topic 606, the lessor cannot recognize revenue, related cost of goods sold, or selling profit on the transaction. 

Instead, if selling profit arises from a direct financing lease, it is deferred and recognized over the lease term. 

The lessor initially records the selling profit as deferred selling profit, a contra-asset account to the net 

investment in the lease account. 

At the commencement date of the lease, for a direct financing lease the lessor: 

1) De-recognizes the underlying asset. 

2) Recognizes the net investment in the lease as an asset. 

3) Recognizes any selling loss arising from the lease, if applicable.57 

Note that the lessor does not recognize any selling profit on the lease at the commencement of the lease. 

  

 
57 Per ASC 842-30-25-7. 
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The net investment in the lease for a direct financing lease at the commencement date includes all three 

of the following: 

1) The lease receivable, which is the present value, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease, of 

• The lease payments not yet received by the lessor 

• The amount the lessor expects to receive from the underlying asset at the end of the lease term 

that is guaranteed 

2) The unguaranteed residual asset at the present value of the amount the lessor expects to receive 

that is not guaranteed, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease 

3) The items in 1) and 2) above are reduced by the amount of any selling profit. 

Note: For a direct financing lease, both selling profit, if any, and any initial direct costs are deferred. 

Selling profit is deducted from the net investment in the lease, and initial direct costs are added to the net 

investment in the lease. 

As with sales-type leases, the rate implicit in the lease is the rate of interest that causes the aggregate 

present value of (a) the lease payments and (b) the amount the lessor expects to derive  from the underlying 

asset following the end of the lease term to be equal to the sum of (1) the fair value of the underlying asset 

minus any related investment tax credit retained and expected to be realized by the lessor and (2) any 

deferred initial direct costs of the lessor.58  

The interest rate used to calculate the present values of the lease payments and the amount the lessor 

expects to derive from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term is the original rate implicit in 

the lease. 

However, the deferred items that adjust the net investment in the lease for a direct financing lease will 

require adjustments to the rate used to amortize the net investment in the lease, as will be explained. 

After the commencement date of the lease, the lessor recognizes: 

1) Interest income on the net investment in the lease 

2) Variable lease payments not included in the net investment in the lease are recognized as income 

when changes in facts and circumstances on which the variable lease payments are based occur 

After the commencement date, the lessor measures the net investment in the lease by: 

1) Increasing the carrying amount to reflect the interest income on the net investment in the lease  

2) Reducing the carrying amount of the lease to reflect the lease payments collected during the period. 

Collectibility 

If a lease would otherwise meet the criteria for a direct financing lease because a third party guarantees all or 

part of the residual value but collectibility is not probable, the lessor classifies the lease as an operating 

lease. 

Example – Lessor Accounting for a Direct Financing Lease 

The facts in the following example are similar to those for the previous, sales-type lease with the exception of 

the guarantor of the residual value. 

  

 
58 Per ASC 10-20 (Glossary). 
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Example #5: A direct financing lease in which the asset is returned to the lessor at the end of 

the lease. A residual value of $12,000 is guaranteed by a third party unrelated to the lessor. 

 The lease is for a dump truck. The lessee is Halliday Contracting. 

• The term of the lease is four years. An initial payment of $5,000 is to be made by the lessee at the 

commencement of the lease on January 1, 20X0, followed by four annual lease payments of 

$21,759.39 each beginning on December 31, 20X0.  

 The normal selling price and the fair value of the dump truck is $94,242. 

 The lessor’s interest rate implicit in the lease is 4%. 

 The truck’s estimated economic life is six years. 

 At the end of the lease the truck is to be returned to the lessor.  

 A third party unrelated to the lessor guarantees a residual value of $12,000. 

 The lessor does not anticipate receiving more than $12,000 for the returned truck at the end of the 

lease, so there is no unguaranteed residual asset value. 

 The lessor has no initial direct costs. 

 The lessor is a dealer, and the lessor’s inventory cost for the asset is $70,000. 

 It is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments and the residual value amount that is 

guaranteed. 

Step 1: Classification of the Lease 

The lease does not meet any of the criteria for classification as a sales-type lease: 

1) The lease does not transfer ownership of the truck to Halliday by the end of the lease term. 

2) The lease does not grant Halliday an option to purchase the truck. 

3) The lease term is for four years, and the estimated economic life of the truck is six years. The lease 

term is for 67% of the truck’s estimated economic life, which does not meet the guideline of 75% or 

more. 

4) The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the 

lessee (only) is not equal to or greater than substantially all of the fair value of the underlying as-

set, using 90% as a guideline for “substantially all.”  

The present value of the sum of the lease payments is: 

 Initial payment received at lease commencement (undiscounted) $  5,000.00 

Present value of annual lease payments to be received: 

 $21,759.39 × PV of Annuity for 4 years @ 4% 3.6299 78,984.41 

Present value of the residual value guaranteed by the lessee         0.00 

 Total present value $83,984.41 

The present value of the sum of the lease payments and the residual value guaranteed by the lessee 

(only) is $83,984.41, which is 89.1% of the underlying asset’s fair value of $94,242. The lessor uses 

a guideline of 90% of the fair value for the present value test. 

5) The underlying asset is not of such a specialized nature that it would have no alternative use at the 

end of the lease term. 
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Since the lease does not meet any of the criteria for a sales-type lease, it is to be classified as either an 

operating lease or a direct financing lease. This lease is classified as a direct financing lease because the 

present value of the sum of the lease payments and the residual value guaranteed by the lessee and by the 

third party unrelated to the lessor equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying 

asset. Additionally, it is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments and the amount of the 

residual value guarantee. 

Present value of the sum of the lease payments: 

 Initial payment received at lease commencement (undiscounted) $  5,000.00 

Present value of the annual lease payments to be received: 

 $21,759.39 × PV of Annuity for 4 years @ 4% 3.6299 78,984.41 

Present value of the residual value guaranteed by the lessee         0.00 

Present value of the residual value guaranteed by the third party: 

 $12,000 × PV of $1 for 4 years @ 4% 0.8548   10,257.60 

 Total present value $94,242.01 

Inclusion of the present value of the residual value guarantee by the third party causes the total present 

value calculated above to be equal to the fair value of the asset. Thus, this lease is a direct financing lease. 

The difference in the accounting between a sales-type lease and a direct financing lease is the treatment of 

any selling profit and any initial direct costs. Whereas revenue, cost of goods sold, and selling profit for a 

sales-type lease are recognized immediately, for a direct financing lease the selling profit is deferred and 

recognized over the life of the lease, though any selling loss is recognized immediately.59 The deferred selling 

profit is recorded as a credit to deferred selling profit, which is a contra-asset to the net lease receivable.  

Any initial direct costs incurred by the lessor are also deferred and included in the measurement of the net 

investment in the lease.  

Step 2: Calculate the Lease Payment 

The amount to be recovered by the lessor through the lease payments is the fair value of the leased asset 

less the present value of the guaranteed residual value of the asset, less the present value of any unguaran-

teed residual value of the asset, less any initial payment received from the lessee, as follows: 

 Fair value of leased equipment $94,242.00 

 Less: Present value of the guaranteed residual value: 

  ($12,000 × 0.8548 (PV4%, 4 years) 10,257.60 

 Less: Present value of the unguaranteed residual value 0.00 

 Less: Initial payment made by lessee    5,000.00 

 Amount to be recovered by lessor through lease payments $78,984.40 

The annual lease payment is $78,984.40 divided by the present value of an annuity factor for 4 years at 4%, 

which is 3.6299: 

Annual Lease Payment = 
$78,984.40 

= $21,759.39 
3.6299 

Step 3: Calculate the Net Investment in the Lease 

The net investment in the lease for a direct financing lease includes the same items as for a sales-type 

lease, but it is also reduced by the deferred selling profit.60 If the lessor has any initial direct costs, those 

initial direct costs are an additional adjustment to the net investment in the lease. The initial direct costs 

increase the net investment in the lease. 

 
59 Per ASC 842-30-25-7 and 25-8. 
60 Per ASC 842-30-30-1 and 30-2. 
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The lessor will carry the lease receivable as an asset and the deferred selling profit as a contra-asset account 

that reduces the net investment in the lease. 

The net investment in the lease, adjusted to reduce it for the selling profit is: 

1) The lease receivable, which is the present value, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease, of 

the lease payments not yet received by the lessor and the amount the lessor expects to derive from 

the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is guaranteed by the lessee or any oth-

er third party unrelated to the lessor, plus 

2) The unguaranteed residual asset at the present value of the amount the lessor expects to derive 

from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term that is not guaranteed, discounted us-

ing the rate implicit in the lease, less 

3) The amount of selling profit, decreased by any initial direct costs. 

The lessor’s net investment in the lease is: 

 Present value of lease payments not yet received discounted at 4% for 4 years 

  ($21,759.39 × 3.6299) $  78,984.41 

 Plus: Present value of guaranteed residual value discounted at 4% for 4 years 

  ($12,000 × 0.8548)    10,257.60 

  Lease receivable $89,242.01 

 Plus: Present value of unguaranteed residual asset          0.00 

 Less: Deferred selling profit net of any initial direct costs 

  ($94,242 − $70,000 – 0 in initial direct costs)   24,242.00 

  Net investment in the lease $65,000.01 

(The one cent is a rounding difference and will be dropped in the accounting for the lease.) 

Note the difference between the lease receivable and the net investment in the lease for a direct 

financing lease:  

• The lease receivable is the sum of the present value of the lease payments not yet received and the 

present value of the guaranteed residual value (the first two items above), that is, the amounts re-

ceivable from the lessee or from a third party guarantor.  

• For a direct financing lease, the net investment in the lease is the lease receivable plus the 

present value of the unguaranteed residual value minus the deferred selling profit. If the lessor 

has initial direct costs for a direct financing lease, the initial direct costs are also deferred by reducing 

the deferred selling profit amount that is deducted to calculate the net investment in the lease (effec-

tively increasing the net investment in the lease by the amount of the deferred initial direct costs). 

Step 4: Record the Lease Receivable, Deferred Selling Profit, Initial Cash Payment Received, and the 

Removal of the Asset from Inventory 

At the commencement of the lease, the lessor records the lease receivable, deferred selling profit, initial cash 

payment received, and removes the leased asset from inventory as follows: 

January 1, 20X0 

 Dr Lease receivable.................................................... 89,242.00 

 Dr Cash ...................................................................... 5,000.00 

  Cr Deferred selling profit .............................................. 24,242.00 

  Cr Inventory ............................................................... 70,000.00 

To record the lease receivable, deferred selling profit, initial cash payment re-

ceived, and the removal of the asset from lessor’s books.  
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The deferred selling profit is a contra-asset account to the lease receivable account, reducing the net 

investment in the lease, as follows: 

 Lease receivable 89,242.00 

 Deferred selling profit ( 24,242.00) 

  Net investment in the lease 65,000.00 

The periodic lease payment ($21,759.39), the guaranteed residual value of the asset at the end of the lease 

($12,000.00) and the rate implicit in the lease (4%) are exactly the same amounts as they were for the 

sales-type lease, since all the terms of the lease are the same except for the fact that the residual is 

guaranteed by a third party instead of by the lessee.  

However, since the net investment in the lease is decreased by the amount of the deferred selling profit, it is 

necessary to calculate an adjusted rate implicit in the lease, based on the adjusted net investment in the 

lease. The adjusted rate will be used to calculate an amount that represents both interest on the net 

investment in the lease and the amortization of the deferred selling profit to revenue over the term of the 

lease. The amount of the deferred selling profit recognized each year will be the difference between the total 

interest and selling profit to be recognized for the year and the amount of interest that would have been 

recognized at a rate of 4% on what the net investment in the lease would be if the lease were a sales-type 

lease that included selling profit recognized at the commencement of the lease. 

The adjusted interest rate implicit in the lease, 17.79566%, is the Internal Rate of Return for the following 

cash flows, as calculated on a financial calculator or in Excel:61 

Net investment in the lease January 1, 20X0 (adjusted) (65,000.00) 

Payment due Dec. 31, 20X0 21,759.39 

Payment due Dec. 31, 20X1 21,759.39 

Payment due Dec. 31, 20X2 21,759.39 

Payment due Dec. 31, 20X3 and residual asset (both 

guaranteed and unguaranteed, if any),  

$21,759.39 + $12,000.00 33,759.39 

Note that when a lease involves an initial payment made at the commencement of the lease, as this example 

does, the lease receivable and thus the net investment in the lease include only the lease payments not yet 

received at the commencement of the lease. 

  

 
61 Since Excel is provided for candidates to use on the exam, it would be a good idea to reperform in Excel the calculation 

demonstrated here in order to be familiar with the way it is done. 
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Step 5: Prepare the Lease Amortization Schedule 

Lessor’s Amortization Schedule – Direct Financing Lease With Asset Reverting to the Lessor 

The following amortization schedule includes both interest income to be accrued and amortization of the 

deferred selling profit. After the combined income figure has been calculated in the schedule below, it will be 

segregated into selling profit and interest revenue. The combined income figure is calculated using the 

adjusted net investment in the lease and the adjusted rate. 

 

Activity/Dates 

Cash 

Received  

Interest Inc. 

& Amort. Of 

Def. Profit 

(Prev. Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

 × 

17.79566%) 

Reduction 

of Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

Net 

Investment 

in Lease 

(Adjusted) 

Commencement Jan. 1, 20X0    65,000.00 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X0 21,759.39 11,567.18 (10,192.21) 54,807.79 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X1 21,759.39 9,753.41 (12,005.98) 42,801.81 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X2 21,759.39 7,616.86 (14,142.53) 28,659.28 

Payment Due Dec. 31, 20X3 21,759.39 5,100.11 (16,659.28) 12,000.00 

Guaranteed residual value  

Dec. 31, 20X3 
12,000.00 0.00 (12,000.00) 0.00 

TOTAL 99,037.56 34,037.56 (65,000.00) ---- 

 

The deferred selling profit to be recognized each year is the difference between the combined interest and 

amortization of deferred selling profit figure for the year from the above amortization schedule and the 

interest for the year as it would have been calculated for an equivalent sales-type lease based on a beginning 

net investment in the lease amount of $89,242 at an interest rate of 4% (calculated in the previous example 

of a sales-type lease). 

The selling profit recognized each year and the total selling profit recognized over the term of the lease are as 

follows: 

Date 

Total Interest Income and Selling 

Profit minus Interest Income Selling Profit 

Dec. 31, 20X0 $11,567.18 − $3,569.68 = $  7,997.50 

Dec. 31, 20X1 $9,753.41− $2,842.09 = 6,911.32 

Dec. 31, 20X2 $7,616.86 − $2,085.40 = 5,531.46 

Dec. 31, 20X3 $5,100.11 − $1,298.39 =     3,801.72 

Total  $24,242.00 
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Step 7: Record the Payments Received Subsequent to the Commencement of the Lease, the Interest, 

and the Selling Profit 

The initial payment received from the lessee ($5,000) is not included in the payments received and recorded 

subsequent to the commencement of the lease, since it was received and recorded at the commencement of 

the lease (in Step 5).  

The deferred selling profit recognized is recorded as lease revenue. The payments received are recorded as 

follows, since they are received at the end of the reporting period: 

December 31, 20X0 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

 Dr Deferred selling profit .............................................. 7,997.50 

  Cr Lease receivable 18,189.71* 

  Cr Lease revenue – selling profit ..................................... 7,997.50 

  Cr Lease revenue - interest ............................................ 3,569.68 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X0. 

December 31, 20X1 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

 Dr Deferred selling profit .............................................. 6,911.32 

  Cr Lease receivable 18,917.30* 

  Cr Lease revenue – selling profit ..................................... 6,911.32 

  Cr Lease revenue - interest ............................................ 2,842.09 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X1. 

December 31, 20X2 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

 Dr Deferred selling profit .............................................. 5,531.46 

  Cr Lease receivable 19,673.99* 

  Cr Lease revenue – selling profit ..................................... 5,531.46 

  Cr Lease revenue - interest ............................................ 2,085.40 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X2. 

December 31, 20X3 

 Dr Cash .................................................................... 21,759.39 

 Dr Deferred selling profit .............................................. 3,801.72 

  Cr Lease receivable 20,461.00* 

  Cr Lease revenue – selling profit ..................................... 3,801.72 

  Cr Lease revenue - interest ............................................ 1,298.39 

To record the payment received December 31, 20X3. 

 

*The credit to the lease receivable account each year is the amount of the reduction of the net investment in 

the lease (from the amortization schedule) plus the selling profit recognized (from the schedule of selling 

profit amortization). 
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Note: If the payments are scheduled to be received at the beginning of the period following the period in 

which the interest and the selling profit are to be recognized, then the lessor accrues the interest income 

and amortizes the deferred selling profit as of the end of the period in which they are to be recognized. 

For example, if the payment for the period ending December 31, 20X0 is due on January 1, 20X1, the 

lessor would record the following journal entry on December 31, 20X0: 

 Dr Lease receivable ....................................................... 3,569.68 

 Dr Deferred selling profit ................................................ 7,997.50 

  Cr Lease revenue - interest .................................................. 3,569.68 

  Cr Lease revenue – selling profit ........................................... 7,997.50 

The journal entry above would increase the balance in the lease receivable account as of December 31 by 

the amount of the 20X0 interest. When the cash payment is received on January 1, 20X1, the journal entry 

would be: 

 Dr Cash  .................................................................... 21,759.39 

  Cr Lease receivable ........................................................... 21,759.39 

Asset is Returned to Lessor at the End of the Lease and Lessor Sells the Asset and Receives Remaining Residual 

Value Guarantee from the Guarantor 

On December 31, 20X3, the lease reaches its expiration date. The lease receivable has a balance of $12,000, 

the guaranteed residual value of the asset. The lessor receives the asset back from Halliday, the lessee. The 

lessor reclassifies the $12,000 remaining in the lease receivable account as equipment: 

 Dr Equipment ................................................................. 12,000 

  Cr Lease receivable ........................................................... 12,000 

To reclassify remaining lease receivable as equipment returned. 

The lessor sells the equipment for $7,000 and records a receivable from the third party guarantor for the 

remaining guaranteed residual asset balance: 

 Dr Cash .......................................................................... 7,000 

 Dr Receivable from guarantor – residual value guarantee ..... 5,000 

  Cr Equipment ................................................................... 12,000 

To record the receipt of proceeds of sale of the leased asset and receivable from 

lessee. 

The lessor informs the guarantor that it owes $5,000 on its guarantee of the residual value of the asset. 

When the guarantor pays, the lessor records the receipt as follows: 

 Dr Cash .......................................................................... 5,000 

  Cr Receivable from guarantor – residual value guarantee ....... 5,000 

To record the receipt of the guaranteed residual balance from the guarantor. 
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Summary: In both sales-type and direct financing leases, the lessor will: 

1) Remove the leased asset from its books (de-recognize it). 

2) Recognize a net investment in the lease.  

 The net investment in the lease for a sales-type lease includes:  

 • The lease receivable: the present value of the lease payments to be received and the amount the 

lessor expects to receive from the underlying asset guaranteed by the lessee or any other third 

party unrelated to the lessor, and 

 • The unguaranteed residual value of the asset at the present value of the amount the lessor 

expects to receive, all discounted using the rate implicit in the lease.  

 • If no selling profit is recognized on a sales-type lease at its commencement because the fair value 

of the underlying asset is equal to the carrying amount of the asset on the lessor’s books, then if 

the lessor incurs any initial direct costs related to the lease, the initial direct costs are included in 

the net investment in the lease and amortized to expense over the term of the lease. 

 The net investment in the lease for a direct financing lease includes the same first two items as does 

a sales-type lease, but the net investment in the lease is always reduced by the amount of any selling 

profit and increased by the amount of any initial direct costs, which for a direct financing lease are 

both deferred and recognized over the term of the lease. 

3) Record interest income and a reduction of the amount of the receivable each time a payment is 

received from the lessee. 

In a sales-type lease, the lessor will also: 

4) Recognize revenue and cost of goods sold at the commencement of the lease (and thus selling 

profit or selling loss) from the sale of the asset if the fair value of the underlying asset is different from 

its carrying amount on the lessor’s books. 

In a direct financing lease, the lessor will also:  

5) Recognize any selling loss from the sale of the asset at the commencement of the lease and  

6) Recognize any selling profit by including it as a reduction to the net investment in the lease and 

recognize any initial direct costs by including them as an increase to the net investment in the lease. 

Both are recognized over the term of the lease. 

Credit Losses on the Net Investment in the Lease 

If collectibility of a sales-type or direct financing lease is probable at the commencement of the lease, the 

lessor does not reassess whether collectibility is probable. However, subsequent changes in the credit risk of 

the lessee are accounted for in accordance with the credit loss guidance in ASC 842-30-35-362 and Topic 326, 

Financial Instruments-Credit Losses. 

For either a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease, subsequent changes in the credit risk of the lessee 

are to be accounted for as an allowance for credit losses. The lessor estimates the loss allowance needed 

related to the net investment in the lease. The loss allowance account, Allowance for Credit Losses-Leases, is 

used to report the portion of the net investment in the lease that the lessor estimates will not be collectible. 

The allowance account should always have a credit (negative) balance because it is a valuation account that 

decreases the net investment in the lease.  

The estimate is to be determined according to the current expected credit loss (CECL) model in Topic 326, 

which is based on expected losses and should be a forward-looking estimate of expected credit loss that is 

 
62 Per ASC 842-30-25-6. 
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recognized. The lessor determines the loss allowance related to the net investment in the lease and records 

any loss allowance in accordance with Subtopic 326-20 on financial instruments measured at amortized cost. 

In determining the loss allowance, the lessor takes into consideration the collateral relating to the net 

investment in the lease.63 

The estimate is updated at each reporting date. A related credit loss expense is recorded in net income 

(Credit Loss Expense-Leases) that is equal to the amount needed to adjust the allowance account to 

management’s current estimate of expected credit losses on the leases.64 

Guidance in Topic 326 on accounting for estimated credit losses on financial instruments is provided in Vol. 1 

of this textbook with respect to accounts receivable and investments in debt securities and is not repeated 

here. 

Operating Lease for the Lessor 

If none of the criteria for a sales-type lease are met, and if both of the criteria for a direct financing lease 

are not met, the lease is classified by the lessor as an operating lease. 

The lessor measures an asset subject to an operating lease in accordance with other topics.65 The leased 

asset remains an asset of the lessor and is accounted for as property of the lessor. Equipment leased under 

operating leases is classified on the lessor’s balance sheet as Leased Assets. The lessor depreciates the leased 

assets in accordance with its usual depreciation policy. 

The lessor recognizes income from operating leases on a generally straight-line basis over the term of each 

lease.  

• If the straight-line lease revenue recognized is greater than the cash received, the difference is 

recorded as a lease receivable. 

• If cash received is greater than straight-line revenue recognized, the difference is recorded as a 

contract liability or deferred rent. 

The lessor expenses other costs of the lease, such as insurance, maintenance and taxes paid, if any, in the 

period incurred. 

When a formerly leased asset is sold by the lessor at the end of its useful leasing life, the sale is recorded the 

same way as any other sale of a fixed asset would be recorded, recognizing any gain or loss on the sale as 

the difference between the amount received from the sale and the book value of the asset. 

Accounting for Sale-Leaseback Transactions 

A sale and leaseback transaction occurs when a company that owns an asset transfers that asset to another 

entity and then leases it back. Under Topic 842, some sale and leaseback transactions qualify for accounting 

as a sale and a lease, whereas other sale and leaseback transactions do not and must be accounted for as 

financing. 

Revenue recognition guidelines from Topic 606 are used to determine whether a sale-leaseback transaction is 

a sale or a financing. According to Topic 606, a sale has taken place only when the customer obtains control 

of the asset. If a sale and leaseback transaction results in control of the asset passing to the lessor-buyer, 

then a sale has taken place. However, if control of the asset has not passed to the lessor-buyer, no sale has 

taken place and the transaction is recorded as a financing. Whether or not a sale has taken place depends on 

the classification of the lease. The lease is classified using the same criteria as are used to classify all other 

leases. 

 
63 Per ASC 842-30-35-3. 
64 Per ASC 326-20-30-1. 
65 Per ASC 842-30-30-4. 
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• If the lease is classified as an operating lease, then control has passed to the buyer-lessor, and the 

transaction is recorded as a sale by the seller-lessee and as a purchase by the buyer-lessor. 

The seller-lessee records a sale, recognizing a gain or a loss on the sale, and accounts for the lease 

as an operating lease. The seller-lessee records a right-of-use asset and a lease liability and amor-

tizes the ROU asset and the lease liability on the straight-line basis while recognizing lease expense, 

as would be done for any operating lease. The buyer-lessor records a purchase and also accounts for 

the lease as an operating lease. 

• If the transaction would be classified as a finance lease by the lessee and as a sales-type lease by 

the lessor, no sale by the seller-lessee has taken place because the owner of the asset, the sell-

er-lessee, has not given up control of the asset. The seller-lessee does not de-recognize the 

transferred asset, continues to depreciate it, and accounts for cash received as a financial liability, or 

a loan. The buyer-lessor does not recognize the transferred asset and accounts for the cash dis-

bursement as a receivable. Thus, the transaction is accounted for as a financing by both parties.66 

Lease Presentation and Disclosure 

The objective of the disclosure requirements is to enable users of financial statements to assess the amount, 

timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.67 

Note: The following disclosures required for lessees and lessors are not exhaustive. 

Lease Presentation and Disclosures – Lessee 

Presentation - Lessees 

Lessees are to present in the statement of financial position or disclose in the notes: 

• Finance lease right-of-use assets and operating lease right-of-use assets separately from each 

other and from other assets 

• Finance lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities separately from each other and from other 

liabilities.68 

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are to be classified as current and non-current in accordance with 

guidelines for other nonfinancial assets and financial liabilities. 

• Right-of-use assets should generally be classified as non-current assets for the entire lease term. 

However, if a right-of-use asset is recorded for a lease with a term of 12 months or less because the 

short-term lease measurement and recognition exemption was not taken, it should be classified as a 

current asset. 

• Lease liabilities should be presented as both current and non-current liabilities in a classified balance 

sheet. Current liabilities are obligations that will be settled through the use of current assets or by 

the creation of other current liabilities. The portion of the lease obligation that will be settled through 

the use of current assets is usually the portion that is expected to be paid within one year. The re-

mainder of the lease liability is classified as a non-current liability. 

Initial direct costs of the lessee should be included in its measurement of the right-of-use asset.69 

 
66 Per ASC 842-40-25-5. 
67 Per ASC 842-30-50-1. 
68 Per ASC 842-20-45-1. Although ASC 842-20-45-1 appears to permit disclosure in the notes instead of separate 

presentation on the balance sheet, ASC 842-20-45-3 prohibits the lessee from including finance lease right-of-use assets in 
the same line item on the balance sheet as operating lease right-of-use assets, and from including finance lease liabilities in 
the same line item as operating lease liabilities. 
69 Per ASC 842-20-30-5. 
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For finance leases, interest expense on the lease liability and amortization of the right-of-use asset should 

be reported in the statement of comprehensive income (income statement). It is not necessary to present 

them as separate line items from other interest expense and other amortization expense. They should be 

presented consistent with the way the entity presents other interest expense and depreciation or amortization 

of similar assets. Interest expense should be reported with other interest expense, and amortization expense 

of the right-of-use asset should be presented with other depreciation and amortization expense in the income 

statement. 

For operating leases, lease expense (a single expense item including interest and amortization of the right-

of-use asset) is included in the lessee’s income from continuing operations.70 

Classification in the Statement of Cash Flows for Lessees 

Finance Leases for Lessees 

Cash payments that reduce the lease liability balance for a finance lease should be classified by the lessee in 

the statement of cash flows as financing activities. 

Cash payments for the interest portion of the lease liability for a finance lease should generally be classified 

by the lessee in the statement of cash flows as operating activities, consistent with other interest.71  

Operating Leases for Lessees 

Cash payments for operating leases should usually be classified by the lessee as operating activities in the 

statement of cash flows unless they represent costs to bring another asset to the condition and location 

necessary for its intended use, in which case they should be classified as investing activities.72 

Qualitative Disclosures - Lessees 

A lessee should disclose in the notes to the financial statements: 

• Information about the nature of its leases, including general descriptions, terms and conditions, such 

as options to extend or terminate the leases, residual value guarantees provided by the lessee, and 

restrictions or covenants imposed by leases.  

• Information about assumptions and judgments made, such as the discount rate or rates used.73 

• The election of the short-term lease measurement and recognition exemption.74 

Quantitative Disclosures - Lessees 

A lessee should disclose the following amounts relating to total lease costs: 

• Finance lease cost, segregated between amortization of the right-of-use assets and interest on lease 

liabilities 

• Operating lease cost 

• Short-term lease cost 

• Variable lease cost 

• Net gain or loss from sale and leaseback transactions 

• Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities, segregated between operating 

and financing cash flows 

 
70 Per ASC 842-20-45-4. 
71 Per ASC 230-10-45-17. 
72 Per ASC 842-20-45-5. 
73 Per ASC 842-20-50-3. 
74 Per ASC 842-20-50-8. 
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• Weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate.75 

• A maturity analysis of finance lease and operating lease liabilities showing the undiscounted cash 

flows each year for at least each of the next five years, the sum of the undiscounted cash flows for 

all years thereafter, and a reconciliation of the undiscounted cash flows to the discounted finance 

lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities recognized in the statement of financial position.76 

Lease Presentation and Disclosures – Lessor 

Presentation - Lessors 

Sales-type and Direct Financing Leases for Lessors 

The lessor de-recognizes the leased asset and recognizes an investment in the lease on its balance sheet. The 

lessor’s aggregate net investment in leases should be presented separately from other assets on the lessor’s 

balance sheet.77 

Lease assets should be classified as current or non-current, subject to the same considerations as other 

assets.78 

The lessor should present income arising from leases in the statement of comprehensive income (income 

statement) either separately or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, along with information on 

which line items include lease income.79 

At the commencement date, the lessor should present profit or loss on leases recognized in a manner 

reflecting the lessor’s business model. 

• If the lessor is a manufacturer or dealer and uses leases as a means of realizing value from goods it 

would otherwise sell outright, for a sales-type lease the lessor should present revenue and cost of 

goods sold for leases in separate line items. Revenue is the lesser of the fair value of the underlying 

asset at the commencement date and the sum of the lease receivable and any lease payments pre-

paid by the lessee. Cost of goods sold is the carrying amount of the underlying asset at the 

commencement minus the unguaranteed residual asset. 

• If the lessor is a financial institution that uses leases as a means of providing financing, for a sales-

type lease the lessor should present any profit or loss in a single line item.80 

• For both types of lessors, any selling profit on a direct financing lease is deferred and included in 

the net investment in the lease, but a loss should be recognized at commencement rather than de-

ferred.81 

At the commencement date, initial direct costs are recognized as follows: 

• For a sales-type lease, if the fair value of the underlying asset is different from its carrying amount, 

initial direct costs are expensed at the commencement date.  

• For a sales-type lease, if the fair value of the underlying asset equals its carrying amount, initial 

direct costs are deferred and included in the measurement of the net investment in the lease.82 

• For a direct financing lease, initial direct costs are deferred and included in the net investment in the 

lease.83 

 
75 Per ASC 842-20-50-4. 
76 Per ASC 842-20-50-6 
77 Per ASC 842-30-45-1. 
78 Per ASC 842-30-45-2. 
79 Per ASC 842-30-45-3. 
80 Per ASC 842-30-45-4. 
81 Per ASC 842-30-25-7 and 25-8. 
82 Per ASC 842-30-25-1. 
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Operating Leases for Lessors 

At the commencement date, the lessor defers initial direct costs.84 

Lessors classify assets leased under operating leases in accordance with other topics,85 that is, as property, 

plant, and equipment on the balance sheet, identified as assets subject to operating leases.  

The assets should be depreciated, and the accumulated depreciation should be shown either on the balance 

sheet or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

After the commencement date, lessors should recognize operating lease payments as income over the lease 

term on a straight-line basis unless another basis is more representative of the pattern of benefit. 

Variable lease payments on operating leases should be recognized as income in the period in which changes 

in facts and circumstances on which they are based occur. 

Initial direct costs for operating leases should be recognized as expenses over the lease term on the same 

basis as lease income is recognized.86 

Depreciation expense on the leased assets should be presented gross and not offset against rental income. 

Classification in the Statement of Cash Flows - Lessors 

In the statement of cash flows, cash receipts from leases are classified by the lessor in operating activities. 

However, if the lessor is a financial institution, it classifies principal payments received on sales-type leases 

and direct financing leases in investing activities.87 

Disclosures – Lessors 

A lessor shall disclose: 

• Information about the nature of its leases, including a general description; the basis, terms, and 

conditions of variable lease payments; terms and conditions of options to extend or terminate the 

leases; and terms and conditions of options for lessees to purchase the underlying assets. 

• Information about significant assumptions and judgments made such as determination of the 

amount the lessor expects to derive from the underlying asset following the end of the lease term.88 

Any lease transactions between related parties are to be disclosed.89 

A lessor shall disclose information about how it manages its risk associated with the residual value of its 

leased assets, such as its risk management strategy for residual assets.90 

Sales-type and Direct Financing Lease Disclosures - Lessors 

For sales-type and direct financing leases, a lessor is to disclose lease income recognized in each annual and 

interim reporting period, in tabular format, including profit or loss recognized at the commencement date and 

interest income either in aggregate or separated according to components of the net investment in the 

lease.91 

 
83 Per ASC 842-30-25-8. 
84 Per ASC 842-30-25-10. 
85 Per ASC 842-30-45-6. 
86 Per ASC 842-30-25-11. 
87 Per ASC 842-30-45-5 and ASC 942-230-45-4. 
88 Per ASC 842-30-50-3. 
89 Per ASC 842-30-50-4. 
90 Per ASC 842-30-50-7. 
91 Per ASC 842-30-50-5.a. 
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Lease income relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease receivable 

should be disclosed.92 

For sales-type and direct financing leases, the lessor is to disclose a maturity analysis of its lease receivables, 

including the undiscounted cash flows to be received annually for a minimum of each of the first five years 

and a total of the amounts for the remaining years. The lessor shall also disclose a reconciliation of the 

undiscounted cash flows to the lease receivables recognized in the statement of financial position.93 

A lessor also discloses the components of its aggregate net investment in sales-type and direct financing 

leases, including the carrying amount of its lease receivables, its unguaranteed residual assets, and any 

deferred selling profit in direct financing leases recognized as a reduction to the net investment in the 

leases.94 

The lessor discloses a maturity analysis of its lease receivables, showing the undiscounted cash flows to be 

received annually for a minimum of each of the first five years and a total of the amounts for the remaining 

years.95 

The lessor for sales-type and direct financing leases is required to disclose in tabular format for each annual 

and interim reporting period its profit or loss recognized at the commencement date and interest income, 

either in aggregate or separated by components of the net investment in the lease, and lease income relating 

to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease receivable.96  

Operating Lease Disclosures - Lessors 

For operating leases, a lessor is to disclose lease income relating to lease payments.97 

A lessor discloses a maturity analysis of lease payments showing the undiscounted cash flows to be received 

annually for a minimum of each of the first five years and a total of the amounts for the remaining years.98 

The lessor for operating leases is required to disclose in tabular format for each annual and interim reporting 

period its operating lease income and lease income relating to variable lease payments not included in the 

measurement of the lease receivable.99  

Sale and Leaseback Transactions 

Disclosures for sale and leaseback transactions for both the seller-lessee and the buyer-lessor are the same 

as all other lessee and lessor disclosures.100 

The seller-lessee should disclose the terms and conditions of sale and leaseback transactions. The seller-

lessee should disclose any gains or losses arising from the transaction and should report them separate from 

gains or losses on disposal of other assets.101 

  

 
92 Per ASC 842-30-50-5.c. 
93 Per ASC 842-30-50-10. 
94 Per ASC 842-30-50-6. 
95 Per ASC 842-30-50-10. 
96 Per ASC 842-30-50-5.a and 50-5.c. 
97 Per ASC 842-30-50-5.b. 
98 Per ASC 842-30-50-12. 
99 Per ASC 842-30-50-5.b and 50-5.c. 
100 Per ASC 842-40-50-1. 
101 Per ASC 842-40-50-2. 
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IFRS Notes:  

Lease Classification by Lessees: Under U.S. GAAP, lessees classify leases as either finance leases or 

operating leases based on meeting any one of five criteria. Under IFRS, no formal classification between 

finance leases and operating leases exists for lessees.  

Measurement of the Right-of-use Asset by Lessees: Under U.S. GAAP, the right-of-use asset at the 

commencement of the lease is measured as the historical cost of the right-of-use asset to the lessee. The 

historical cost does not change during the term of the lease, although it is amortized. Under IFRS, 

alternative measurement bases are allowed for the right-of-use asset, including the revaluation model as 

permitted by IAS 16, Property, Plant, and Equipment. 

Lease Classification by Lessors: Under U.S. GAAP, lessors classify leases as one of three types: sales-

type leases, direct financing leases, and operating leases based  on specific criteria. Under IFRS, leases are 

classified by lessors as finance leases or operating leases on the basis of the substance of the transaction 

rather than on the form of the contract.  

Recognition of Selling Profit by Lessors: Under U.S. GAAP, recognition of selling profit must be 

deferred and recognized over the term of the lease on leases classified as direct financing leases. IFRS 

permits recognition of selling profit on leases that under U.S. GAAP would be classified as direct financing 

leases and on which under U.S. GAAP the selling profit would be deferred. 

Collectibility of Lease Payments: U.S. GAAP states that if collectibility of the lease payments is not 

probable for a sales-type lease, payments received from the lessee must be classified by the lessor as 

contract liabilities and the underlying asset is not to be de-recognized until collectibility of the remaining 

amounts becomes probable. IFRS does not provide any guidance on collectibility for the lessor. 
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